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         1       <DAVID KINGSLEY JOHNSON, on former oath:     [10.05am]


         2


         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Johnson.


         4


         5       MR JUDD:   Mr Commissioner, before my friend continues with


         6       this witness, I ought to raise a couple of matters with


         7       you, sir.  I don't want to unnecessarily interrupt the


         8       conclusion of this witness's evidence, but they are


         9       important matters that I wish to raise.


        10


        11            The first is this:  we have conducted a search, as I


        12       indicated, for materials relating to Mr McConville.  A box


        13       has been recovered from archives, and that box is on its


        14       way up to Sydney now.  In its original condition it will be


        15       made available to the inquiry.  We do not expect it will


        16       contain privileged material, but perhaps it can be


        17       inspected jointly.  We don't believe that there are any


        18       notebooks, but the material that has been recovered from


        19       archives will be sent up.


        20


        21            Following my friend's comments yesterday in relation


        22       to the threat of search warrants, our understanding is that


        23       the AWB premises in Melbourne were quite understandably


        24       beset by media expecting the execution of search warrants


        25       in relation to probably Mr McConville's diary.  That


        26       experience would have been, in our submission, an


        27       unnecessary and alarming one for AWB employees to have to


        28       go through.


        29


        30            Having regard to the media, sir, that was attached to


        31       the comments made by my friend, we want to again express


        32       our very great disappointment that that threat was made and


        33       reassert the position, sir, that not only was it


        34       regrettable, but it was entirely without foundation.  We


        35       have interpreted that threat, sir, as part of a strategy


        36       which was designed to attribute to the AWB responsibility


        37       for any delay before this Commission.


        38


        39            We also interpret it, sir, together with other


        40       complaints that are made from time to time about the lack


        41       of documentation, to be part of a strategy to set in place


        42       a framework for an attack on the directors next week


        43       regarding the level of cooperation by the AWB with the


        44       Commission and as an opportunity taken to continue to put


        45       pressure on the AWB and its witnesses by use of threats.


        46


        47            In relation to the search warrant comment in





            .3/3/06 (39)               3837     D K JOHNSON


                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters


�















         1       particular, we say this:  first of all, as a general


         2       proposition, any search warrant proposed by my friend on


         3       the basis articulated yesterday would be unjustified in the


         4       face of the arrangements in place for the production of


         5       documents to this Commission.  Those arrangements are


         6       formal and informal.  They are recorded in writing.  Any


         7       such warrant, if issued, sir, would be the subject of


         8       immediate challenge as an abuse of power and an abuse of


         9       process.


        10


        11            Insofar as the warrant, if one were to be sought, were


        12       to relate to Mr McConville's notebooks, in our submission


        13       we say that it would not be justified --


        14


        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, why are we going through this?


        16       There has been no application made for a warrant.


        17


        18       MR JUDD:   Sir, we are concerned about the threat that was


        19       made and the consequence of that threat, not only in the


        20       media but one which is designed, we say, to have an impact


        21       on AWB, a deliberate attempt to place pressure on AWB to do


        22       something more than it is already doing, and what it is


        23       doing, sir, is the best that can be done.


        24


        25            Overnight we sought some instructions in relation to


        26       the process of document production, and I have some


        27       material with me which I can provide to the Commission now,


        28       or at a convenient time.  One point I wish to make is this:


        29       yesterday, in relation to Mr McConville, I made the point


        30       that, had these documents been of any significance, one


        31       would have thought the Commission would have raised them


        32       with either Mr McConville or with us back in early January.


        33


        34            Before the commencement of this inquiry, we were asked


        35       by the Commission staff to make available, sir, a person


        36       who might explain, if necessary, the course of the


        37       production of documents to the Commission.  That person was


        38       made available and on standby for a number of weeks.  That


        39       person has been sent back to Melbourne and has not been


        40       called to provide any explanation to this Commission.  We


        41       do not want to find ourselves in a position where criticism


        42       is made day after day about the production of documents


        43       when the opportunity given to this Commission to have a


        44       detailed explanation has not been taken up.  Nor do we want


        45       to find ourselves, sir, in a position where the directors,


        46       when giving evidence, are criticised for the production of


        47       documents in circumstances where detailed evidence might
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         1       have been given to provide a proper explanation to this


         2       Commission.


         3


         4            The production of documents has been an enormous


         5       process and one exacerbated, sir, by the fact that we are


         6       trying to do this in Melbourne and Sydney.  We have


         7       complained before about the fact that this inquiry is being


         8       conducted in Sydney and the inconvenience attaching to it,


         9       but that, sir, is a matter which has exacerbated the


        10       problems with the production of documents.  There is


        11       absolutely no doubt about that.  We want to bring to the


        12       Commission's attention that, had this inquiry been


        13       conducted in Melbourne, or had the facilitation which we


        14       sought of one day a week been granted, we believe


        15       confidently that there would have been a more expeditious


        16       production of documents as a result of that.


        17


        18            There are some 68 persons who have been involved in


        19       the production of documents at AWB since November, 15 of


        20       those lawyers.  There have been hundreds of thousands of


        21       documents produced, and the AWB has spent millions of


        22       dollars on the production of documents.


        23


        24            Sir, we have come to the point where we want to


        25       formally raise with the Commission our very real concern at


        26       the continuing attack, as we see it, on the document


        27       production process in circumstances where, in many


        28       instances, the Commission has the very document which is


        29       being sought.  We were criticised, sir, for not producing


        30       those market briefs.  I took responsibility for that, and,


        31       in effect, apologised to the Commission.  It was made clear


        32       to us by Mr Agius that this was a matter which had had the


        33       effect of delaying or extending the cross-examination of


        34       witnesses, costing time, effort, involving enormous expense


        35       because those documents weren't produced.  They were with


        36       the Commission at the very time, from December.


        37


        38            We understand that those sorts of matters occur.


        39       People overlook documents.  But it is unfair, in our


        40       submission, for the continuing attack which is being made


        41       on AWB for the non-production of documents.


        42


        43            Sir, I have abridged what I intended to say, but I did


        44       want to put on record this morning, particularly after the


        45       comments made by my friend yesterday in relation to search


        46       warrants, that enough is enough.  If there are real


        47       concerns that my friend has, there's an avenue to take them
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         1       up.  If it's detail they want, there are people who can


         2       come along and give that detail.  In the circumstances,


         3       sir, we are left with no alternative but to conclude that


         4       the continued attack must be part of a strategy.  If that's


         5       so, it's regrettable.


         6


         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let me just say that I have not


         8       detected any so-called strategy to which you have referred.


         9       This Commission has only one objective, and that is to


        10       conclude its deliberations as soon as may be.  To achieve


        11       that, we need to have the documents from AWB.  I appreciate


        12       that they are being produced on a progressive basis.  I


        13       appreciate the difficulty of producing them all.  But I


        14       have to say that, after three and a half months, I would


        15       have thought that process would have been if not complete


        16       as near to complete as may be possible.


        17


        18            Is your client in a position to put on an affidavit


        19       from somebody as to the stage at which production of


        20       documents has been achieved, in compliance with the


        21       notices?


        22


        23       MR JUDD:   We'll attend to that, sir.


        24


        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.


        26


        27       MR AGIUS:   Can I just respond shortly by reminding my


        28       friend of what I did say yesterday, so that what I said is


        29       not taken out of context.  What I said yesterday was this:


        30


        31            If there is any indication that that


        32            obligation is not going to be observed, I


        33            will apply for a search warrant...


        34


        35       That was not a threat in terrorem, that was a simple


        36       statement of the law:  if there is any indication that the


        37       obligation to produce documents is not going to be


        38       observed, that is what I will do.  It was in those


        39       circumstances that I said what I said.


        40


        41            I should indicate that we are somewhat surprised that


        42       a search for Mr McConville's notes has only been undertaken


        43       yesterday afternoon and overnight.  We would have thought


        44       that the notes of any relevant witness would have been


        45       sought long before the witness for the first time revealed


        46       to this inquiry that the notes existed.  That is just one


        47       of many examples where there has been an untimely search
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         1       and an untimely production of documents.  If there is any


         2       strategy by those assisting you, Mr Commissioner, it is a


         3       strategy designed only to ensure compliance with the


         4       processes of this inquiry, including the timely production


         5       of documents.  We are compiling a list in that regard,


         6       which may or may not become the subject of evidence.


         7


         8            The point is, for example, we obtained Mr Flugge's


         9       travel documents and records, AWB records of his travel,


        10       after Mr Flugge had left the witness box.  We obtained


        11       Mr Fuller's notes, which included a statement as to whether


        12       or not something ought to be reported to the WEA, the day,


        13       I think, or the night before Mr Fuller came to give


        14       evidence.  I've been told there are 12 volumes of


        15       Mr Fuller's material which exist and which Mr Abbott has


        16       reduced to two volumes to assist us, but we haven't seen


        17       those 12 volumes yet.  We've had to put Mr Fuller's


        18       examination off until next week because of late production


        19       of material.


        20


        21            These are valid complaints, in our submission.  All we


        22       want is timely production of material.  Calling the person


        23       who provided a statement some months ago about what AWB was


        24       doing to assist in providing that material would not assist


        25       on this issue at the moment.  We are still getting material


        26       late.  That is all I wish to say about the matter.


        27


        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think we'll get on with the


        29       hearing.


        30


        31       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


        32


        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Johnson, yesterday I was asking you


        34       some questions about this memo of 7 February 2003,


        35       exhibit 32, AWB.0188.0047.  I wonder if that could be


        36       brought up again, please.  The third paragraph of this


        37       memo, Mr Johnson, dealt with the Tigris debt.  It's quite


        38       short, and I'll read it:


        39


        40            After being approached by Tigris Petroleum


        41            AWB and IGB have agreed to allow the new


        42            contract to be the conduit for a repayment


        43            of USD 8,375,000 owed to Tigris by IGB for


        44            a cargo of wheat shipped in 1996.  IGB have


        45            agreed to raising the contract price by the


        46            debt amount and when payments are made


        47            under the Letter of Credit AWB will pay
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         1            Tigris its debt less AWBs recovery fee.


         2


         3       At that time, Mr Johnson, were you aware of the arrangement


         4       in the terms as we read it in this memo?


         5       A.   No, I wasn't.


         6


         7       Q.   Were you aware that AWB was to receive a recovery fee?


         8       A.   I can't recall whether I was aware of that.


         9


        10       Q.   Were you aware of any discussions as to whether AWBI


        11       was to have a share in that recovery fee at the date of


        12       this memo?


        13       A.   No, I can't.


        14


        15       Q.   Clearly, this paragraph, in substance, is consistent


        16       with what we've previously covered in relation to the


        17       Tigris debt, in the sense that this was an old debt that


        18       was owed to Tigris by the IGB and that the AWB was going to


        19       assist in recovering that debt.  So there wasn't anything


        20       new in that aspect of the information.


        21       A.   No, there wasn't.


        22


        23       Q.   And it was still being presented to you, and the


        24       others who were recipients of this memo, as a debt?


        25       A.   Yes.


        26


        27       Q.   You had no doubt about that as at 7 February 2003?


        28       A.   Yes.


        29


        30       Q.   You agree with me?


        31       A.   Yes.


        32


        33       Q.   The next document that we come to in the chronology is


        34       exhibit 316, dated 26 August 2003.  I wonder if we could


        35       bring it up, AWB.0202.0077.  Did you see any draft of this


        36       document?


        37       A.   No, I didn't.


        38


        39       Q.   You didn't see a draft of this document which referred


        40       to, rather than the Tigris Petroleum commission, some form


        41       of debt?


        42       A.   No, I didn't.


        43


        44       Q.   Were you surprised to see the way in which the matter


        45       was presented in this memorandum as at 26 August 2003?


        46       A.   It didn't - I don't recall reading this document, and


        47       I didn't turn my mind to the manner in which it was
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         1       expressed in that document.


         2


         3       Q.   If you did read it, the fact that this Tigris debt had


         4       somehow been transformed into a commission didn't strike


         5       you?


         6       A.   Not at that stage, no.


         7


         8       Q.   When did you first become aware that the debt and the


         9       recovery of the debt and payment of the debt to Tigris by


        10       AWB had morphed into a commission?


        11       A.   I can't recall when that - I didn't - I can't recall


        12       when I became aware or was aware of that transformation.


        13


        14       Q.   We have emails, copies of which, no doubt, you have


        15       seen.  Could we go to AWB.0199.0173.  This is part of


        16       confidential exhibit 68.  If we go to 0174, you seem to be


        17       on the job of tracking things down relating to this subject


        18       matter in April of 2004.


        19       A.   Yes.


        20


        21       Q.   What prompted your interest in the matter in April of


        22       2004?


        23       A.   My concern that the net FOB value for the Iraq


        24       contracts was not flowing through to the pool model


        25       correctly.  Therefore, we may be incorrectly quoting the


        26       equity that the growers will receive.


        27


        28       Q.   Does that translate to this, that there was a sum of


        29       money accumulating in an AWBI account which may not


        30       actually be available to the growers --


        31       A.   Correct.


        32


        33       Q.   -- and you wanted to sort out the circumstances of


        34       that accumulation and what was going to be done with that


        35       sum of money?


        36       A.   Yes.  Every two weeks we run a pool model where we get


        37       an update of the net FOB return by grade of each market,


        38       and it would have been following one of those pool updates


        39       that I was concerned that the net FOB return for Iraq was


        40       not flowing through the pool model correctly.


        41


        42       Q.   What does that mean, when you say "not flowing through


        43       the pool model correctly"?


        44       A.   That this Tigris amount of money was not being


        45       deducted to give the actual FOB return that the grower


        46       would receive.


        47
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         1       Q.   So at this stage that money - that is, the Tigris


         2       commission, as you refer to it in this email - was not


         3       being deducted and set aside?


         4       A.   I believe, due to the nature of - the money was being


         5       deducted and set aside, but the way it was set up in the


         6       system, it wasn't flowing through to accurately show the


         7       correct net FOB return to the grower.


         8


         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Does that mean that the value of


        10       the pool was understated?


        11       A.   Overstated.


        12


        13       Q.   Overstated by the amount of the commission --


        14       A.   Correct.


        15


        16       Q.   -- or the amount of the total debt recovered?


        17       A.   The amount of the total debt.


        18


        19       Q.   The 8 point whatever it is million?


        20       A.   Correct.


        21


        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It's apparent that by the time you wrote


        23       this email you were referring to it as a commission.  Your


        24       email of 23 April commences, "Gents.  Could you please give


        25       a run down on the status of the payments of the Tigris


        26       commission".  Up until then, on documents which you had


        27       seen, this had not been referred to as a commission, unless


        28       we take into account the 26 August document from 2003.


        29       Where did you get the concept that this was a commission,


        30       rather than a debt?


        31       A.   I don't recall.  It was always a debt in my mind.


        32


        33       Q.   I just need to press you a little harder on this,


        34       because it appears that this was an email that you would


        35       have typed yourself, and it's apparent that you typed the


        36       words "Tigris commission", and it continues to refer to it


        37       as a commission in this email.  Can you think about that?


        38       How did it come about that you came to refer to this as a


        39       commission, rather than a debt?


        40       A.   I honestly don't recall.  I didn't, at the time, think


        41       about the difference in terminology.


        42


        43       Q.   If we go to 0173, you ask for the agreement with


        44       BHP --


        45       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        46


        47       Q.   -- not any agreement with Tigris.  What was your
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         1       understanding of BHP's role in this when you wrote that


         2       email, also on 23 April?


         3       A.   I don't recall at the time what my state of mind would


         4       have been.


         5


         6       Q.   If we go to exhibit 328, this is WST.0004.0056.  The


         7       emails are in July of 2004 relating to provision of the


         8       Iraqi contracts to the WEA.  You've been copied in on these


         9       emails, Mr Johnson.  What knowledge did you have of the


        10       WEA's inquiry which had caused consideration of the


        11       production of documents?


        12       A.   I understood that the WEA had requested to see Iraqi


        13       contracts from a period of time.


        14


        15       Q.   Did you have any understanding as to the basis upon


        16       which that request had been made?


        17       A.   No.


        18


        19       Q.   Had you been told that the WEA wanted to review the


        20       contracts against a background of reports that there may


        21       have been kickbacks or payments to the Iraqis?


        22       A.   No, I hadn't.


        23


        24       Q.   You had no knowledge at all as to the background for


        25       the WEA's interest in these contracts?


        26       A.   No, I hadn't.


        27


        28       Q.   Could we go to exhibit 319, which is AWB.0216.0080.


        29       This is an email to you from Rosemary Peavey which speaks


        30       of a meeting the afternoon before, which would have been


        31       15 July 2004.  What was the substance of conversations


        32       between you and Ms Peavey the afternoon before?


        33       A.   I had requested from Rosemary Peavey a background of


        34       the Tigris history and some legal advice relating to the


        35       contract which had been presented to AWBI.


        36


        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Sorry, legal advice in relation


        38       to?


        39       A.   The contract which had been presented to the pool to


        40       sign.


        41


        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you wanted advice about some aspect of


        43       that contract?


        44       A.   Following a meeting with Sarah Scales, Sarah requested


        45       that we get from legal a history of the Tigris transaction


        46       and legal advice as to the nature of the agreement.


        47
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         1       Q.   This was a proposed agreement between AWBI and Tigris


         2       Petroleum?


         3       A.   Yes.


         4


         5       Q.   Why did you go to Rosemary Peavey to give your


         6       briefing on the background to that agreement, rather than


         7       go to IS&M or Mr Whitwell or Mr Long?


         8       A.   Because Sarah had requested that I get legal opinion.


         9


        10       Q.   I can understand and readily follow, of course, that


        11       you would go to the legal department to get a legal


        12       opinion, but why would you go to the legal department to


        13       give you the background information relating to the


        14       arrangements between AWB and Tigris, rather than go to the


        15       people who had negotiated that position within AWB?


        16       A.   I can't recall why that's the case.


        17


        18       Q.   You see, we have seen two memos from Mr Whitwell which


        19       deal with this, one of 7 February and one of 26 August.


        20       Yesterday I took you to much earlier documents, from 2002,


        21       relating to this.  Did you go back to those people --


        22       A.   No.


        23


        24       Q.   -- and seek advice from them --


        25       A.   No, I didn't.


        26


        27       Q.   -- as to how this debt had become a commission?


        28       A.   No, I didn't.


        29


        30       Q.   -- and what the background to that transition was?


        31       A.   No, I didn't.


        32


        33       Q.   This background that you got from Rosemary Peavey, and


        34       which we can read, was inconsistent with what you had


        35       understood the situation to be; isn't that right?


        36       A.   I was --


        37


        38       MR CLELLAND:   Perhaps Mr Agius could just identify which


        39       portion of it is said to be inconsistent with the witness's


        40       understanding.


        41


        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Perhaps I'll put it another way.  Did you


        43       recognise any inconsistency with the background that


        44       Ms Peavey was telling you and what you had understood the


        45       situation to be up until this point in time?


        46       A.   Not at that point in time, no.


        47
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         1       Q.   Well, had you ever been told before, to your


         2       recollection, that Tigris had assisted in securing the sale


         3       of approximately 1 million tonnes of wheat to Iraq?


         4       A.   According to my recollection, no, I hadn't.


         5


         6       Q.   So, according to your recollection, the receipt of


         7       this email was the first time you learnt of that?


         8       A.   Yes.


         9


        10       Q.   Did you take that up with anybody?


        11       A.   No, I didn't, because it was in the hands of legal


        12       providing this opinion and advice.


        13


        14       Q.   Did it concern you that perhaps the legal opinion that


        15       legal had provided might have been based on inaccurate


        16       facts?


        17       A.   I didn't turn my mind to that at that stage.  I was


        18       more interested in the quantum of money being paid out.


        19


        20       Q.   But you understand the concept that a legal opinion is


        21       only as good as the facts upon which it is based are


        22       accurate?


        23       A.   Yes.


        24


        25       Q.   That didn't occur to you at the time?


        26       A.   No.


        27


        28       Q.   It may have been that the legal opinion that


        29       Sarah Scales had asked you to get was worthless if it


        30       wasn't based on accurate facts.  Surely, as a matter of


        31       commonsense, you would have thought of that?


        32       A.   I didn't turn my mind to it at that time.


        33


        34       Q.   Did you take up with anybody this new factual element


        35       that you had learnt only from this memo from Ms Peavey; did


        36       you go to Mr Long or Mr Whitwell and say, "What about


        37       this?"


        38       A.   No, I didn't.  I forwarded it on to Sarah.


        39


        40       Q.   Is there any reason why you didn't?


        41       A.   Not that I can recall, no.


        42


        43       Q.   Did you tell Ms Scales that this was the first time


        44       that you had heard that, with Tigris's help, AWB had been


        45       able to secure the sale of approximately 1 million tonnes


        46       of wheat to Iraq?


        47       A.   No, I didn't.
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         1


         2       Q.   You didn't tell her that was news to you?


         3       A.   No, I didn't.


         4


         5       Q.   Is that because you had a belief that she was already


         6       aware of that?


         7       A.   I can't comment on Sarah's belief.


         8


         9       Q.   No, I was asking you about your belief.  Did you have


        10       a belief that she was already aware of that?


        11       A.   I didn't have an opinion as to whether she was aware


        12       of it.


        13


        14       Q.   Looking back now, do you think you ought to have drawn


        15       that new fact to her attention?


        16


        17       MR CLELLAND:   That's, with respect, an almost impossible


        18       question for the witness to answer.


        19


        20       MR AGIUS:   I won't press that.  It probably won't assist


        21       us.


        22


        23       Q.   Can I move on then to January of 2005 and


        24       AWB.0280.0120.  I think, to follow this, we will need to go


        25       to 0122.  The very first of these emails was not one that


        26       was directed to you, but we need to look at it for context.


        27       I wonder if you could take a moment to read that email from


        28       Mr Owen to Mr Edmonds-Wilson and others.


        29       A.   Yes.


        30


        31       Q.   In short, it indicates that the pool was holding an


        32       additional US$247,000-odd for what I will term an oversale


        33       of 31,000-odd tonnes of wheat, and that had come about


        34       because $7.875 had been collected in respect of each of


        35       those 31,000-odd tonnes, and the Tigris commission had been


        36       calculated on the basis of a million tonnes, but that AWB


        37       had continued to collect the commission on the extra 31,000


        38       tonnes; that's a fair summary, isn't it?


        39       A.   Yes.


        40


        41       Q.   That would have been reflecting itself in your pool


        42       modelling, would it not?


        43       A.   The revenue - yes, ultimately it would have, yes.


        44


        45       Q.   Technically this was not an oversupply, because the


        46       contracts were plus or minus 5 per cent?


        47       A.   Correct.
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         1


         2       Q.   So plus 5 per cent on a million tonne contract would


         3       be plus 50,000 tonnes, so it was in the outer limits of the


         4       contract --


         5       A.   Correct.


         6


         7       Q.   -- as negotiated.  Nevertheless, it seems that the


         8       Iraqis had kept paying the $7.875 per tonne on the tonnage


         9       past one million tonnes?


        10       A.   Yes.


        11


        12       Q.   If we go to 0121, you'll see that Mr Owen advises


        13       Mr Whitwell and others:


        14


        15            I advise this is part of the overpayment of


        16            Tigris commission.


        17


        18       He attaches an updated spreadsheet and asks what was to


        19       happen with that money.


        20       A.   Could I just clarify with your question on whether it


        21       was reflected in the pool model.  At that point in time


        22       those funds were probably sitting in what I would call


        23       no-man's land, because of the way that the amount of money


        24       was being captured was not a deduction within the SAP


        25       system, which is the issue as to why it wasn't being


        26       reflected back in the net FOB price.


        27


        28       Q.   So it wasn't coming up in the pool model as being


        29       attributable to the Tigris debt; it was just sitting in a


        30       hole by itself unaccounted for?


        31       A.   Correct.


        32


        33       Q.   Because the Tigris debt had been so programmed as to


        34       cut out at a million tonnes?


        35       A.   Well, I wasn't aware of how the quantum of money to be


        36       paid to Tigris was calculated, whether it was on a million


        37       tonnes or tonnage delivered.


        38


        39       Q.   Could we have 0120, please.  If we go to the bottom of


        40       that page, Mr Owen, on 10 January, gets a reply to his


        41       inquiry of 20 December:


        42


        43            Please arrange for these funds to be put in


        44            the same location as the equipment and


        45            quality claim budget which Chinlook is


        46            looking after.


        47
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         1       Do we understand correctly that this equipment and quality


         2       claim budget was the amount of money that AWBI were keeping


         3       so as to be in a position to repay the quality claim that


         4       had been settled with the Iraqis for $6 a metric tonne?


         5       A.   Yes.


         6


         7       Q.   That money was sitting in an account at AWBI and


         8       hadn't yet been paid to the Iraqis; is that right?


         9       A.   Correct.


        10


        11       Q.   And IS&M were clearly wanting to add this extra


        12       $242,000 to that amount of money?


        13       A.   Correct.


        14


        15       Q.   Then Chinlook Tan, it appears, forwarded those


        16       messages to you?


        17       A.   Yes.


        18


        19       Q.   And she did this on 20 January 2005, and the next day,


        20       as we go up the page, you issued a direction to place these


        21       funds back to the pool?


        22       A.   Correct.


        23


        24       Q.   By that, do we understand that by 21 January these


        25       funds had actually been withdrawn from the pool's account?


        26       A.   No.  They were sitting in this account in limbo, so to


        27       speak.


        28


        29       Q.   So they hadn't moved?


        30       A.   No.


        31


        32       Q.   We shouldn't take literally your request to "please


        33       place these funds back to the pool"?


        34       A.   No.


        35


        36       Q.   You were using that word in an accounting sense, that


        37       they should be attributed to the pool?


        38       A.   Correct.


        39


        40       Q.


        41


        42            There is no authority to move these funds


        43            to the IGB equipment budget.  The AWB(I)


        44            Board have clearly articulated that these


        45            funds should be returned to growers.


        46


        47       Had there been a board meeting where this overpayment of
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         1       $247,000-odd US had been discussed?


         2       A.   Not that I'm aware of, no.


         3


         4       Q.   What was your reference then to "The AWB(I) Board have


         5       clearly articulated that these funds should be returned to


         6       growers"?


         7       A.   I can't recall what instigated that comment from me.


         8


         9       Q.   This issue had never been taken up to the board as at


        10       21 January 2005, had it - I mean the issue of the


        11       overpayment in relation to this $247,000-odd?


        12       A.   I'm not aware of whether it was or not.


        13


        14       Q.   I don't mean this in any critical way, but were you


        15       just using the authority of the board to drive home your


        16       point that you wanted this money to stay in the pool and be


        17       available to the growers?


        18       A.   It's possible that I was using a bit of poetic licence


        19       to state that it was growers' money.


        20


        21       MR AGIUS:   I'll tender those three pages - AWB.0280.0120


        22       through to 0122.


        23


        24       EXHIBIT #492 THREE PAGES OF EMAILS,


        25       BARCODED AWB.0280.0120-0122


        26


        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Dealing with matters which relate to the


        28       board, Mr Johnson, we received recently, within the last


        29       two or three days, a volume marked "Hard-Copy Documents


        30       David Johnson Prepared For the Cole Inquiry".  Are you


        31       familiar with this volume?


        32       A.   Not without seeing them.


        33


        34       Q.   It's not a volume that you specifically requested to


        35       be put together?


        36       A.   No.


        37


        38       Q.   It contains a number of documents.  I'm not sure if


        39       they have found their way on to the system.  What I want to


        40       take you to is AWB.0335.0009, "Pool Management and Grain


        41       Technology Direct Reports", and these appear to be minutes


        42       of a meeting which took place on 25 January 2004.  I


        43       suspect that's a mistype --


        44       A.   Yes.


        45


        46       Q.   -- and that that should read 2005?


        47       A.   Correct.
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         1


         2       Q.   If we go down to the action list, there's a reference


         3       to "Tigris", "Team Member DB".  If I look up, the only "DB"


         4       I can see is David Beard?


         5       A.   Yes.


         6


         7       Q.   Was that a reference to David Beard?


         8       A.   Yes.


         9


        10       Q.   What is the meeting to which these minutes relate?


        11       A.   This is the weekly pool management team meeting.


        12


        13       Q.   Obviously minutes are kept?


        14       A.   Yes.


        15


        16       Q.   Is an agenda prepared for these weekly meetings?


        17       A.   No.


        18


        19       Q.   David Beard then worked in the pool?


        20       A.   He had a dual function.  He was half working in


        21       Steve Sheridan's group, in the regulatory group, and he was


        22       at that time also the pool's legal - lawyer reporting to


        23       Jim Cooper.


        24


        25       Q.   So he worked within Mr Cooper's section, but had


        26       responsibility particularly in relation to the pool?


        27       A.   Yes.


        28


        29       Q.   The minutes record you as attending.  Do you recall


        30       this meeting?


        31       A.   Not specifically.


        32


        33       Q.   I'm going to pass you this folder and ask you to look


        34       at the page that's open, 0009.  Actually, I have a copy, so


        35       I can pass you that.  I'm showing you 0001 through to 0010.


        36       Can you identify any of the handwriting?  I'm particularly


        37       interested in 0009.


        38       A.   That's my handwriting.


        39


        40       Q.   May we take it that these documents, then, from 0001


        41       to 0010, are documents which have come from a file that you


        42       maintain at the AWB?


        43       A.   Not a file, but they may have come off hard drive


        44       documents.


        45


        46       Q.   They wouldn't have handwriting on them, though, if


        47       they had just come off hard drive, would they?
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         1       A.   True.


         2


         3       Q.   Do you know how we came to get them?


         4       A.   No, I don't, because I don't keep the file of


         5       those - oh, unless, sorry, they were within my day books.


         6


         7       Q.   Day books?


         8       A.   Yes.


         9


        10       Q.   What form do your day books take?


        11       A.   Just a ring binder normal day book.


        12


        13       Q.   In which you keep copies of handwritten notes --


        14       A.   In which I stuff copious documents like this, yes.


        15


        16       Q.   And you keep your own handwritten notes?


        17       A.   Yes.


        18


        19       Q.   And minutes?


        20       A.   Oh, on occasions.


        21


        22       Q.   Well, do you think these minutes might be in that day


        23       book?


        24       A.   Yes, that's the only place they could have been.


        25


        26       Q.   Tell me about the way in which you keep these day


        27       books?  Are they ring binders?


        28       A.   Yes.


        29


        30       Q.   Do you have a full set of them?


        31       A.   Yes.


        32


        33       Q.   Are they in chronological order?


        34       A.   Yes.


        35


        36       Q.   Where do you physically keep them?


        37       A.   In my drawers.


        38


        39       Q.   You must have a lot of drawers?


        40       A.   I only have five or six of them.


        41


        42       Q.   Five or six ring binders?


        43       A.   Yep.


        44


        45       Q.   And do you suspect that this document, from 0001


        46       through to 0010 - actually, I think it goes up to


        47       0013 - came from that file?
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         1       A.   That's the only place that I can think it would come


         2       from.


         3


         4       MR AGIUS:   We received a selection from "Diaries/Day Books


         5       David Johnson Prepared For the Cole Inquiry" at the same


         6       time we received this volume of hard copy documents.  Did


         7       you assist in making that selection?


         8       A.   No.


         9


        10       Q.   I'm sorry, we got the copies of your diaries and day


        11       books a couple of days ago and the folder of hard copy


        12       documents yesterday morning.  You haven't had any part in


        13       putting those together?


        14       A.   No.


        15


        16       Q.   If you look at page 0009, there's a reference to


        17       "Tigris", "DB", being the team member, "due date", February


        18       2005, "Update".


        19


        20            . The money has been paid.


        21


        22            . The Board paper is to be drafted by Jim


        23            and reviewed by Sarah.


        24


        25       Now, we know from looking at board minutes for December


        26       that one of the directors had asked for a paper on the


        27       Tigris matter to be drawn up.  We've not been able to


        28       locate a copy of that paper.  Do you know whether one was


        29       ever drawn up?


        30       A.   I don't know, no.


        31


        32       Q.   The handwritten note here is a line and then the


        33       initials "JC".  We take it that's a reference to


        34       Jim Cooper?


        35       A.   Yes.


        36


        37       Q.   He hadn't attended this meeting.


        38       A.   No.


        39


        40       Q.   So somebody has decided that he is to prepare the


        41       board paper.  Was that a decision made at this meeting, or


        42       is that a reference to information that the meeting was


        43       provided?


        44       A.   The normal course of events following a board meeting,


        45       which Sarah normally attends, is that she would come back


        46       to the management group and state the requirements of


        47       future board meetings.  That appears to be what has
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         1       occurred here.


         2


         3       Q.   So it's a reporting of information that Jim Cooper was


         4       to prepare a board paper in relation to the Tigris matter?


         5       A.   It appears to be, yes.


         6


         7       Q.   You've no independent recollection of this matter


         8       being discussed?


         9       A.   No, I don't.


        10


        11       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender AWB.0335.0001 through


        12       to 0013.  Perhaps it should be a confidential exhibit, but


        13       for the portion that I've read on to the record.


        14


        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I shall mark it exhibit 160C,


        16       except for the portions read on to the public record.


        17


        18       EXHIBIT #160C DOCUMENTS FROM A VOLUME MARKED "HARD-COPY


        19       DOCUMENTS DAVID JOHNSON PREPARED FOR THE COLE INQUIRY",


        20       INCLUDING MINUTES OF A MEETING WHICH TOOK PLACE ON


        21       25/1/2004,  BARCODED AWB.0335.0001-0013


        22


        23       MR AGIUS:   Could I supplement that public record by


        24       indicating that the minute that I've read appears as part


        25       of a document dated, as corrected by this witness,


        26       25 January 2005 for a meeting that took place at 9am,


        27       attended by Sue Podhorsky, David Johnson, Karl Divers,


        28       Sarah Scales, and other members of the management team of


        29       the pool, including David Beard.


        30


        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.


        32


        33       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we probably ought to have picked


        34       this up, but under the heading "Cracked Wheat" - I know it


        35       has nothing much to do with this inquiry - there's a


        36       reference to --


        37


        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I noticed that.  I was surprised to see


        39       that Mr Donohue was more conservative than Mr Tracy.


        40


        41       MR JUDD:   I think they're in fierce competition.  If we


        42       could attend to deleting that last part.


        43


        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.


        45


        46       MR AGIUS:   I'm not surprised that he knew anything about


        47       cracked wheat, though.  There's nothing he doesn't know
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         1       something about.


         2


         3       Q.   I want to return to your statement.  Do you have a


         4       copy of it?  Perhaps we'll bring up the paragraph that I


         5       want to refer to.  It's exhibit 490, WST.0018.0002, at


         6       0003.  Could you just refresh your memory as to what you've


         7       written in paragraph 6?


         8       A.   Yes.


         9


        10       Q.   In June of 2003 you were one of the recipients of an


        11       email from Michael Long.  Could we bring up, please,


        12       exhibit 295, which is at AWB.6004.0232.  The email that I'm


        13       interested in is the one at the bottom of the page,


        14       although it does appear that you were copied in on emails


        15       which this email set off.  You'll see this is Mr Long's


        16       email to a number of persons, including yourself and


        17       Ms Scales, which commences, "Subject:  Re:  PROTON":


        18


        19            Please don't let DFAT know you know...


        20


        21       This is an email you would have read, is it not,


        22       Mr Johnson?


        23       A.   I can't recall reading that email, no.


        24


        25       Q.   Perhaps we need to turn the page and see what the


        26       substance of it was.  I'll just let you read that page,


        27       0233.


        28       A.   Yes, I've read that.


        29


        30       Q.   Does that refresh your recollection?


        31       A.   No, it doesn't.


        32


        33       Q.   This email concerned the practice and process that the


        34       CPA was going to follow in determining which contracts


        35       ought to be given priority, and if you will recall at that


        36       stage the AWB had two contracts which had not been


        37       completed, 1670 and 1680, and together they accounted for a


        38       million tonnes of wheat.


        39       A.   Correct.


        40


        41       Q.   And there was something in the order of 800,000 tonnes


        42       of that million tonnes outstanding.


        43       A.   Yes.


        44


        45       Q.   This is the first report that we can find in the AWB


        46       records of what the CPA process was going to be in relation


        47       to dealing with those outstanding contracts.  That's a
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         1       matter in which you would have had an interest, is it not?


         2       A.   In the contracts, yes.


         3


         4       Q.   And in the contracts being prioritised, and in that


         5       wheat actually being physically removed from the pool and


         6       shipped overseas?


         7       A.   Yes.


         8


         9       Q.   Because it's wheat that you had had earmarked for


        10       delivery from the time of the settlement of those contracts


        11       back in December of 2002?


        12       A.   Correct.


        13


        14       Q.   So you were very interested in moving that wheat?


        15       A.   I'm interested in the execution of those contracts,


        16       yes.


        17


        18       Q.   Is it not likely, then, that you would have read such


        19       an email?


        20       A.   I can't recall reading that email.


        21


        22       Q.   I understand that, but is it not likely that you would


        23       have read it?


        24       A.   I may have, but I can't recall reading it.


        25


        26       Q.   I'm not asking you whether you can recall reading it;


        27       I'm asking you whether, given the subject matter, and given


        28       that you've now had an opportunity to read at least the


        29       first page of the email, setting out its purpose, that it's


        30       likely that this is the sort of material you would have


        31       read?


        32       A.   I may have read the email, but I can't recall reading


        33       the email.


        34


        35       Q.   In what circumstances might you not have read an email


        36       addressed to you on this subject in June of 2003?


        37       A.   If I was being advised by the international sales and


        38       marketing team of the issues around the contract.


        39


        40       Q.   So if you'd got an oral briefing on the substance of


        41       the email, you might not have read the email?


        42       A.   Possibly, yes.


        43


        44       Q.   Does that mean that it's likely that, whether you read


        45       the email or whether you received an oral briefing, you


        46       became aware of the substance of this email in about June


        47       of 2003?
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         1       A.   No --


         2


         3       MR CLELLAND:   With respect, that's a non sequitur, in this


         4       sense, that the witness, if he hasn't read the email, is in


         5       no position to answer whether the content of the briefing


         6       was the same as the email.


         7


         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   The witness said "no" in any event.


         9       Yes, Mr Agius.


        10


        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you learn in June of 2003 that the


        12       authority in Iraq had information that contracts - not all


        13       contracts, but contracts - had a kickback or surcharge in


        14       them, and that it was often 10 per cent, and that that


        15       percentage kickback or aftersales service fee had to be


        16       identified, and that that was part of the process of having


        17       the contracts prioritised?


        18       A.   No, I didn't become aware of that.


        19


        20       Q.   You did not become aware in June of 2003 that the CPA


        21       was interested in identifying which contracts contained an


        22       inflated rate, the rate of inflation being about


        23       10 per cent?


        24       A.   No, I didn't.


        25


        26       Q.   You deal with this subject matter in paragraph 6 of


        27       your statement, which we might go back to - WST.0018.0003.


        28       Whilst that's coming up, Mr Johnson, this email was one


        29       sent to you by Michael Long under the subject "Proton".


        30       What did you understand Proton to be in June of 2003?


        31       A.   Michael's position in Iraq.


        32


        33       Q.   And what did you understand that to be?


        34       A.   Part of a - I think it was with AusAID to help in the


        35       construction of agriculture in Iraq.


        36


        37       Q.   What did you understand his role vis-a-vis AWB to be


        38       in June of 2003?


        39       A.   To assist in, you know, the recognition of AWB


        40       contracts.


        41


        42       Q.   And to assist AWB to regain market share in Iraq after


        43       the coalition forces had entered Iraq?


        44       A.   Well, initially the execution of the existing


        45       contracts.


        46


        47       Q.   Yes.  And then beyond that?





            .3/3/06 (39)               3858     D K JOHNSON (Mr Agius)


                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters


�















         1       A.   Well, I don't think he was going to be there beyond


         2       that.


         3


         4       Q.   Well, why then ought we not to infer that, of all the


         5       emails that you would have read in June of 2003, this is


         6       one of those?


         7       A.   I can only say that I can't recall reading that email.


         8


         9       Q.   Nevertheless, you agree that it's on a topic in which


        10       you had a real interest in June of 2003?


        11       A.   The execution of the contracts, yes, I did.


        12


        13       Q.   And you had knowledge that Mr Long was in Iraq, and


        14       you had knowledge of his roles in Iraq?


        15       A.   Yes.


        16


        17       Q.   Will you agree that not only was this email directed


        18       to you but it appears that you were copied in on exchanges


        19       involving Charles Stott and Mr Whitwell on the next day?


        20       A.   It appears that I was, but I can't recall that.


        21


        22       Q.   So may we take it that you can't remember reading


        23       those emails either?


        24       A.   No.


        25


        26       Q.   And you can't express an opinion as to whether it's


        27       likely that you did read any of these three emails?


        28       A.   No, I can't.


        29


        30       Q.   In your statement you do recall a conversation with


        31       Mr Whitwell.


        32       A.   Yes.


        33


        34       Q.   Even though you can't recall reading the email on


        35       almost the same subject matter?


        36       A.   Yes, because Mr Whitwell came and talked to me about


        37       the issue.


        38


        39       Q.   You were aware by that time, were you not, that


        40       10 per cent had been added to 1670 and 1680 at the


        41       instigation of the IGB?


        42       A.   No, I wasn't.


        43


        44       Q.   Did you learn that from Mr Whitwell?


        45       A.   No, I didn't.


        46


        47       Q.   So you never learnt that?
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         1       A.   No.


         2


         3       Q.   Did you form that view after your conversation with


         4       Mr Whitwell?


         5       A.   No, I didn't.


         6


         7       Q.   So, so far as you were concerned, when Mr Whitwell had


         8       this conversation with you, the price of the wheat


         9       reflected in contracts 1670 and 1680 did not include any


        10       artificial inflation?


        11       A.   Correct.


        12


        13       Q.   When did he have this conversation with you - sometime


        14       in - well, perhaps you can tell us?


        15       A.   I don't recall exactly.  I don't recall exactly the


        16       time frame of that, but it was certainly in late 2003.


        17


        18       Q.   And Mr Whitwell never told you that those contracts


        19       had been inflated by 10 per cent?


        20       A.   No, he didn't.


        21


        22       Q.   If they had been artificially inflated by 10 per cent,


        23       as we now know they had, and that 10 per cent was being


        24       removed by the coalition, or the CPA, the addition and


        25       removal of that 10 per cent would have no impact on the


        26       pool; isn't that right?


        27       A.   Not necessarily, no.


        28


        29       Q.   Why do you say that?


        30       A.   Sorry, if you take 10 per cent off the contract --


        31


        32       Q.   If you add 10 per cent on to the contract to start


        33       with, on the basis that that 10 per cent is going to be


        34       paid to the IGB, and then you remove that 10 per cent from


        35       the contract, the IGB no longer --


        36       A.   True.


        37


        38       Q.   -- are there to receive the 10 per cent, there's no


        39       impact on the pool; do you agree with that?


        40       A.   I do.


        41


        42       Q.   You didn't have a conversation to that effect with


        43       Mr Whitwell?


        44       A.   No, I didn't.


        45


        46       Q.   So you proceeded on the basis that the real contract


        47       price - that is, the effective contract price - was being
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         1       reduced by 10 per cent?


         2       A.   Correct.


         3


         4       Q.   Do you appreciate now that that was an inaccurate


         5       basis upon which to proceed?


         6       A.   I do.


         7


         8       Q.   May I take it that you were aware that an amount to


         9       cover the Tigris debt had been included in those contracts?


        10


        11       MR CLELLAND:   Can it be specified when Mr Agius is asking


        12       about?


        13


        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At the time you had this conversation with


        15       Mr Whitwell?


        16       A.   Yes, I was aware.


        17


        18       Q.   Indeed, you were aware that most of the Tigris debt,


        19       if not all of it, had been recovered, if this conversation


        20       was in late 2004?


        21       A.   No, in 2003 the contract hadn't been executed, so, no,


        22       it hadn't.


        23


        24       Q.   My apologies.  In late 2003 you were aware that the


        25       Tigris debt had been included in those contracts?


        26       A.   Yes.


        27


        28       Q.   And that it was to be recovered even after the


        29       renegotiation of the contracts?


        30       A.   Yes.


        31


        32       MR AGIUS:   That completes my examination of Mr Johnson.


        33


        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Clelland?


        35


        36       MR CLELLAND:   No, sir.


        37


        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?


        39


        40       MR JUDD:   No, sir.


        41


        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else have any questions?


        43       Can this witness be excused, Mr Agius, or not?


        44


        45       MR AGIUS:   Well, I think it's unlikely we'll require


        46       Mr Johnson back, but I'm reluctant to have any witness


        47       excused at the moment, Mr Commissioner.
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         1


         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  We'll put you on the same


         3       basis.  It's unlikely you'll be required further, but I


         4       can't release you at this point in time.  Thank you very


         5       much.


         6


         7       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.


         8


         9       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW


        10


        11       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, we're about to move to the


        12       three witnesses from the Wheat Export Authority.


        13


        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps I'll take the adjournment now.


        15


        16       SHORT ADJOURNMENT


        17


        18       MR ROBINSON:   Commissioner, I seek authorisation to appear


        19       before the inquiry for each of Glen Taylor, Tim Besley and


        20       Terence Charman.


        21


        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that leave is granted on the usual


        23       terms.


        24


        25       MR AGIUS:   Mr Taylor is to now be before the Commission,


        26       Mr Commissioner.


        27


        28       <GLEN FRANCIS TAYLOR, affirmed:                   [11.30am]


        29


        30       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


        31


        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Taylor, might we have your full name,


        33       please?


        34       A.   Yes, Glen Francis Taylor.


        35


        36       Q.   You appear before the inquiry today in answer to a


        37       notice?


        38       A.   Correct.


        39


        40       Q.   We have a statement from you, Mr Taylor.  Could we


        41       bring up, please, WST.0018.0008.


        42


        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not on the system, apparently.


        44


        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I wonder if you could look at this


        46       document and just confirm that that is a copy of your


        47       statement, together with the annexures.
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         1       A.   I think there may be some of the annexures missing


         2       from the statement.


         3


         4       Q.   Well, does that contain annexures A and B?


         5       A.   Yes, it does.


         6


         7       Q.   Would you confirm that that is a copy of your


         8       statement, together with annexures A and B?


         9       A.   Yes, that is.


        10


        11       Q.   Are the contents of your statement true and correct to


        12       the best of your knowledge and belief?


        13       A.   Yes, they are.


        14


        15       MR AGIUS:   I tender the statement together with the


        16       annexures A and B.


        17


        18       EXHIBIT #493 STATEMENT OF GLEN FRANCIS TAYLOR,


        19       BARCODED WST.0018.0008, TOGETHER WITH ANNEXURES A AND B


        20


        21       MR AGIUS:   The Wheat Export Authority has also produced to


        22       the inquiry five WEA performance monitoring reports for the


        23       years 99-01 through to 04-05.  I tender copies of those


        24       reports and ask that they be marked as a confidential


        25       exhibit.


        26


        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, the five reports for the years


        28       ended 30 June 2000 to 2005 will be confidential


        29       exhibit 161C.


        30


        31       EXHIBIT #161C WEA PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORTS FOR THE


        32       YEARS ENDED 30/6/2000 TO 30/6/2005


        33


        34       MR AGIUS:   The inquiry has received a compilation of Wheat


        35       Export Authority information requests and AWB


        36       responses/briefing notes.  That compilation is to be found


        37       in one volume, and I tender it.  I ask that the compilation


        38       be marked as a confidential exhibit, save for those


        39       portions which are dealt with in public session and which


        40       are referred to on the record.


        41


        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that volume will be confidential


        43       exhibit 162C.


        44


        45       EXHIBIT #162C ONE VOLUME CONTAINING COMPILATION OF WHEAT


        46       EXPORT AUTHORITY REQUESTS AND AWB RESPONSES/BRIEFING NOTES


        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is confidential on the basis


         2       outlined by Mr Agius.


         3


         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have a copy of your statement with


         5       you, Mr Taylor?


         6       A.   Yes, I do.


         7


         8       Q.   You refer in paragraph 5 to 15 full-time staff,


         9       including yourself.  How are duties divided amongst


        10       those 15?


        11       A.   The Wheat Export Authority is structured along


        12       primarily two core areas of activity.  The first area of


        13       activity is our performance monitoring and export control


        14       functions as set out in the Wheat Marketing Act.  The other


        15       area of the business is our corporate governance and


        16       communications.  There are separate teams within each of


        17       those two divisions within the Wheat Export Authority.


        18


        19       Q.   Is that team divided amongst those two divisions?


        20       A.   Correct.


        21


        22       Q.   With no overlap?


        23       A.   No, there is some overlap.


        24


        25       Q.   Was that the approximate allocation of staff during


        26       the years 1999 through to 2003?


        27       A.   No.


        28


        29       Q.   What was the staffing in those years?


        30       A.   The staffing to commence with, when the Wheat Export


        31       Authority was firstly in place, was, I believe, three


        32       people, and then in the year in question - I would need to


        33       check to confirm, but I would estimate it would be around


        34       10 to 12 people in the Wheat Export Authority.


        35


        36       Q.   In which year was that?


        37       A.   That would have been up until '03 - sorry, '03-04.


        38


        39       Q.   You've helpfully set out provisions of the Wheat


        40       Marketing Act in your statement.  Can I bring you to what


        41       you deal with in paragraph 19.  You say that from a


        42       document dated 8 November 2003:


        43


        44            ...(in fact sent by facsimile on 8 November


        45            2002) I was informed that AWBI was


        46            proposing to sell "Free in truck to all


        47            governorates of Iraq".
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         1


         2       Do we understand, then, that you date your knowledge from


         3       November 2002?


         4       A.   That is correct.


         5


         6       Q.   At paragraph 20 you refer to an August briefing paper.


         7       You say you have no recollection of seeing the August


         8       briefing paper prior to December of 2005.  In the ordinary


         9       course of your work, would you have expected to have seen


        10       the August briefing paper prior to then?


        11       A.   Yes, I would.


        12


        13       Q.   Do you think it's likely that you did?


        14       A.   Yes, it is.


        15


        16       Q.   I wonder if we could bring it up.  That's


        17       WEA.0001.0052.  If we go to 0054, the fourth dot point from


        18       the top:


        19


        20            IGB also specified the transport company to


        21            be used and the cost of the transport


        22            services was specified by either IGB or the


        23            transport company.


        24


        25       To the best of your knowledge, were you ever informed that


        26       the cost on account of transport was specified only by the


        27       IGB?


        28       A.   No.


        29


        30       Q.   This was a report or a briefing paper prepared in


        31       August of 2004.  There's no reference in the briefing paper


        32       to how the cost of any trucking fee or land transport fee


        33       was calculated.  To the best of your recollection, as at


        34       August 2004, was the WEA ever informed of how the cost of


        35       the inland transport fee was calculated?


        36       A.   No.


        37


        38       Q.   Were you ever informed that there was a component


        39       which, for a significant portion of the time that AWB


        40       provided wheat to Iraq, included a 10 per cent uplift in


        41       price of the wheat?


        42       A.   No.


        43


        44       Q.   If I go on to paragraph 20, you say:


        45


        46            If I did read the August Briefing Paper


        47            prior to December 2005, I did not regard it
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         1            as important in terms of AWBI's performance


         2            as an exporter of wheat or benefits


         3            delivered to growers for the reason that I


         4            did not believe at that time that it would


         5            affect the returns to growers.


         6


         7       That would be, would it, because you were concerned to


         8       understand what the FOB price was of the wheat that was


         9       being exported?


        10       A.   That is correct.


        11


        12       Q.   Had you ever been given a dollar breakdown of the


        13       amounts added into the contract price above the FOB amount?


        14       A.   We had some information, yes.


        15


        16       Q.   What form did that information take?


        17       A.   It was included in a market brief provided to the


        18       Wheat Export Authority that included some of the additional


        19       costs that were added to the bulk price for doing business


        20       in Iraq.


        21


        22       Q.   Those costs, as we understood it, were charged back to


        23       the customer.


        24


        25       Q.   If we bring up confidential exhibit 132, which is


        26       AWB.0267.0261, at 0264, this is a document entitled "AWB


        27       International Limited Market Brief First Quarter 2003".  At


        28       0264, at the bottom of the page, there's a reference there


        29       to "AWB factor in the following costs, associated with the


        30       execution of Iraqi contracts", and some costs are set out.


        31       There's no reference there to inland freight.


        32       A.   That's correct.


        33


        34       Q.   This document, we understand, relates to a period up


        35       to the first quarter of 2003.  Prior to this document, this


        36       market brief, were you ever told that the amounts of money


        37       paid by AWB to the transport company were in fact being


        38       paid to any Iraqi entity?


        39       A.   No.


        40


        41       Q.   Prior to the receipt of this market brief, were you


        42       ever told what the specific amount was in relation to


        43       inland transport?


        44       A.   No.


        45


        46       Q.   Were you ever told the CIF cost of the wheat?


        47       A.   There was some information provided to the Wheat
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         1       Export Authority that included a component of the insurance


         2       and freight cost to Iraq.


         3


         4       Q.   But not all of it?


         5       A.   No.


         6


         7       Q.   Because if you had the total amount of CIF and you had


         8       the FOB price --


         9       A.   Correct.


        10


        11       Q.   -- you could work out the total amount of the add-ons


        12       to cover insurance and freight and inland transport, and


        13       matters of that nature?


        14       A.   No, sir.  The material the Wheat Export Authority had


        15       covered the FOB price plus the CIF component - insurance


        16       and freight components - for a delivery to Iraq.  It did


        17       not include any inland component in Iraq.


        18


        19       Q.   Can I bring you to paragraph 21.  You say:


        20


        21            My first knowledge that there may have been


        22            payments by AWBI designated for transport,


        23            but either at an inflated price or for a


        24            purpose other than transport was from press


        25            reports of allegations made during the


        26            course of the Volcker Inquiry...


        27


        28       The Volcker Inquiry ranged over a long time.  Are you able


        29       to be more specific as to when it was that you first became


        30       aware of allegations of that nature?


        31       A.   I think it was during the course of 2004 there was


        32       media reports that were obviously in the public arena and


        33       some of those media reports were making allegations about


        34       kickback payments and how those payments might have been


        35       made through an inland transport component in Iraq.


        36


        37       Q.   Is that the material that you referred to in


        38       paragraph 26?


        39       A.   Yes.


        40


        41       Q.   You refer there to a review that it was proposed to


        42       undertake.  Was that review ever reduced to some form of


        43       investigation plan setting out what were to be the goals or


        44       objects of the review?


        45       A.   No, there wasn't a specific plan.  The issue had been


        46       raised earlier in the year with the Wheat Export Authority


        47       board, and they had said that we needed to address an issue
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         1       in respect of WEA's role in performance monitoring and


         2       looking at any potential impact on the pool.


         3


         4       Q.   But the WEA never set out in any document for guidance


         5       of its own officers what was to be the scope of the review?


         6       A.   What we had done was we had provided to AWB what we


         7       call an information requirement schedule, and in that


         8       information requirement schedule we asked specific


         9       questions of AWBI that we were seeking to have addressed as


        10       part of that review that was being done by WEA.


        11


        12       Q.   I want to take you to that, so that we can follow this


        13       in the chronology.  I'm doing this by reference to the


        14       confidential exhibit.  We have as exhibit 464


        15       WEA.0011.0001.  This appears to be a page from your


        16       Information Request Register 2001 to 2002.  Would a


        17       document in this form, in the ordinary course of WEA's


        18       business, be passed to the AWB?


        19       A.   Yes.


        20


        21       Q.   Or I should say the AWBI?


        22       A.   Yes.


        23


        24       Q.   It sets out the date of a request for information, the


        25       subject upon which information is sought and then the date


        26       required.  It also records when the information comes in.


        27       A.   Correct, yes.


        28


        29       Q.   That was a document that we have for that period of


        30       time, which is August, September, October of 2002.  Can I


        31       bring you to one for February-March of 2004.  Can we have


        32       WEA.0010.0006.  Can you indicate what the background was to


        33       this document?


        34       A.   Certainly.  This is an extract from our annual


        35       information requirement schedule.  We prepare early each


        36       year this documentation and provide it to AWBI.  It covers


        37       the issue that WEA will be addressing in that year in its


        38       performance monitoring function and identifies specific


        39       issues and time frames which the WEA would be seeking


        40       information from AWBI in order to complete our performance


        41       monitoring report.


        42


        43       Q.   In response to that and those requests which are there


        44       listed I think you received this document.  Could we bring


        45       up AWB.0267.0148.  I'll just read to you from the Key


        46       Issues For Examination document, which is 0006.  You ask:


        47
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         1            Please provide AWBI's guidelines and


         2            policies in relation to AWBI's Business


         3            Conduct, specifically dealing with


         4            governments or business partners


         5            relationships...


         6


         7       If we go to 0150, you'll see that that request is set out


         8       as number 7, and there's a reference to attachments.  Then


         9       the next request in your list:


        10


        11            Please provide a summary of all contracts


        12            with Iraq and their execution and payment


        13            status...


        14


        15       You'll see that that is provided as paragraph 8 as an


        16       update to the brief note on Iraq which had previously been


        17       provided up to April of 2003.  So this is the way in which


        18       the AWBI responded to the requests that are noted in the


        19       Key Issues for Examination document dated February and


        20       July 2004?


        21       A.   That is correct.  That was, in part, a response to


        22       that information requirement schedule, but also updated


        23       during the course of the year with further information


        24       requested.


        25


        26       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender as a public


        27       exhibit two emails and an attachment.  They are AWB emails,


        28       AWB.6028.0035 and the attachment is 0036.  Just to explain,


        29       that is an exchange of emails which produces a draft of a


        30       portion of the document that we've just seen on the screen,


        31       which was AWBI's final response to this request for


        32       information from the WEA.


        33


        34       EXHIBIT #494 TWO AWB EMAILS AND ATTACHMENT, BARCODED


        35       AWB.6028.0035 AND AWB.6028.0036


        36


        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In paragraph 26 you deal with the


        38       investigation that was conducted by Terry Charman and


        39       Amelia Duck.  Did you play any part in that investigation.


        40       Did you examine any of the contracts?


        41       A.   No, I did not.


        42


        43       Q.   In terms of the parameters of that investigation, were


        44       they ever set out?


        45       A.   Only in the information requirement schedule.


        46


        47       Q.   That's in the documents transmitted to the AWBI?
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         1       A.   Correct.


         2


         3       Q.   But what about within the Wheat Export Authority?  Was


         4       there any record made of what it was that was expected of


         5       Mr Charman and Ms Duck in relation to this inquiry?


         6       A.   I don't believe there is anything as specific as


         7       you're referring to, no.


         8


         9       Q.   May we take it that they were informed that they were


        10       to investigate whether or not the AWB had made 10 per cent


        11       kickback payments to the Iraqi Government or other entities


        12       in Iraq to determine whether or not, in turn, that had had


        13       any effect on the pool?


        14       A.   No.  The primary purpose of that review - and we use


        15       the word "review", rather than "investigation" as such -


        16       was to confirm that the contract data which had previously


        17       been provided to the Wheat Export Authority, which is the


        18       FOB returns to the pool, actually reconciled to the


        19       contracts that were on hand within the AWBI offices so that


        20       we could be confident that our use of the data that had


        21       been provided was producing a reliable result.


        22


        23       Q.   Can you just assist me with that by reference to


        24       paragraph 26 of your statement.


        25


        26            Around May/June 2004 I became aware through


        27            press reports that United States


        28            organisations were alleging that there had


        29            been or may have been 10% kickbacks to the


        30            Iraqi Government or other entities in Iraq.


        31            The Authority's Senior Manager, Performance


        32            Monitoring, Terry Charman and a Project


        33            Officer, Performance Monitoring and


        34            Reporting, Amelia Duck met with


        35            Steve Sheridan and Dougal Heath of AWBI on


        36            11 August 2004 to discuss this amongst


        37            other issues


        38


        39       Then you refresh your recollection by reference to a record


        40       of that meeting.  The impression one gets from that


        41       paragraph is that one of the matters that Mr Charman and


        42       Ms Duck were to look at was this allegation that there had


        43       been, or may have been, 10 per cent kickbacks to the Iraqi


        44       Government or other entities in Iraq.  Is that a fair


        45       inference?


        46       A.   Yes, it was one of the matters that we looked at at


        47       that meeting.
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         1


         2       Q.   Was it one of the matters that Mr Charman and Ms Duck


         3       were to review, to use your word?


         4       A.   Yes.


         5


         6       Q.   Had there been any discussion within the WEA as to how


         7       that review would take place?


         8       A.   It was agreed that the Wheat Export Authority would


         9       attend the premises of AWB International to conduct its


        10       review of the relevant material, including the contracts


        11       for Iraq.  There would most likely have been discussions


        12       prior to that, but I don't have a specific document that I


        13       could provide to you or refer to that outlined that


        14       process.


        15


        16       Q.   When you say "There would most likely have been


        17       discussions prior to that", do you mean discussions within


        18       the WEA?


        19       A.   Correct.


        20


        21       Q.   If we bring up exhibit 468, which is the record of the


        22       meeting, which I appreciate you didn't attend -


        23       WEA.0002.0193 - at 0194, there's recorded at paragraph 10


        24       that AWB(I) provided a folder which contained the elements


        25       set out there in the four dot points.  How did it come


        26       about that those elements were the ones to be provided for


        27       perusal by the WEA?


        28       A.   The Wheat Export Authority, in light of media reports


        29       during 2004, I think in about May, decided that it should


        30       have a look at these specific contracts relating to Iraq


        31       rather than the earlier request that had been made for a


        32       summary of the contracts, so there was a request made to


        33       AWBI for contracts - access to contracts.  Subsequently the


        34       AWBI agreed that WEA could review those contracts, but on


        35       the basis that it was on their premises and there be no


        36       copies taken by the Wheat Export Authority or those


        37       contracts be removed from their premises.


        38


        39       Q.   Why did the WEA agree to those conditions?


        40       A.   At the time it was believed that that access would


        41       meet the WEA's need at that point in time.


        42


        43       Q.   I'll come back to this list in a moment, but can I


        44       take you to another document from this confidential bundle,


        45       WEA.0002.0027.  This is an extract from minutes of a WEA


        46       board meeting of 30 June 2004.  You'll see there's a dot


        47       point second from the top:
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         1


         2            Action:  The Secretariat requested copies


         3            of contracts with Iraq, variations to


         4            contracts, letters of credit and any other


         5            documents that AWBI considers relevant to


         6            their dealings with Iraq and the oil for


         7            food program.


         8


         9       That appears to be a wide request.  How was it that that


        10       wide request, which is marked for action, became reduced to


        11       the four dot points that we see if we go back to


        12       WEA.0002.0194, bearing in mind now, just to remind you,


        13       that the minute that we have from the WEA board meeting of


        14       30 June includes the words "and any other documents that


        15       AWBI considers relevant to their dealings with Iraq and the


        16       oil for food program".


        17       A.   Mmm-hmm.  There had already been material that had


        18       been provided to the Wheat Export Authority regarding the


        19       February 2004 request to AWBI for copies of documentation


        20       relating to how they go about business generally, and with


        21       particular focus on Iraq.  So that part of the process had


        22       in fact been completed.


        23


        24       Q.   That production was accepted by the WEA as fulfilling


        25       the action requirement that the AWBI produce any other


        26       document that it - that is, the AWBI - considered relevant


        27       to its dealings with Iraq and the Oil-for-Food Program?


        28       A.   WEA made the request, and that was the material that


        29       was provided by AWBI, and it seemed to satisfy, in light of


        30       the earlier material provided, as requested by the Wheat


        31       Export Authority, the request by the WEA for information.


        32


        33       Q.   My point is that the WEA accepted the production that


        34       was made by the AWBI as satisfying the WEA's request.


        35       A.   Yes.


        36


        37       Q.   Can we just identify that documentation.  First,


        38       perhaps we might go to the request itself.  Could we go to


        39       WEA.0010.0006.  We've seen this before.  Is that the


        40       request?  There are six items there, firstly:


        41


        42            Please provide a copy of AWBI's Booklet on


        43            Corporate Ethics.


        44


        45       Secondly:


        46


        47            What 'defined policy arrangements as
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         1            approved by the Board or Management' have


         2            been made for the provision of agency


         3            payments?  Please provide a list of all


         4            payments recorded and reported to the


         5            Managing Director.


         6


         7       A.   Yes, that's correct.  That's the list and, as you'll


         8       see, the date requested shows that there were subsequent


         9       requests by the Wheat Export Authority to AWBI to that


        10       additional material that was sought on 17 February.


        11


        12       Q.   The difficulty I have with that is that the board


        13       minute that I was referring you to is dated 30 June 2004,


        14       and it records:


        15


        16            The Secretariat requested copies of


        17            contracts with Iraq, variations to


        18            contracts, letters of credit and any other


        19            documents that AWBI considers relevant to


        20            their dealings with Iraq and the oil for


        21            food program.


        22


        23       That's dated as at 30 June 2004.  So one would have


        24       expected such a request to have been passed to the AWBI on


        25       or after 30 June 2004.  I just don't see it in this


        26       request.  Was it otherwise telegraphed to the AWBI?


        27       A.   I believe that it would have been, but I don't have a


        28       specific answer to that question.


        29


        30       Q.   Do you see the second request on the document that's


        31       on the screen, which is 0006:  where did that formulation


        32       come from, the defined policy arrangements as approved by


        33       the board or management that had been made or approved for


        34       the provision of agency payments?


        35       A.   If I could clarify, when you say "formulation", sir,


        36       what --


        37


        38       Q.   Let me come at it this way:  you set out in your


        39       statement that in May or June there were allegations of


        40       which you became aware that there had been 10 per cent


        41       kickbacks to the Iraqi Government or other entities in


        42       Iraq.  However, when the request is made of the AWBI,


        43       there's no reference to that precise allegation, there's no


        44       reference to 10 per cent kickbacks that might have been


        45       made to the Iraqi Government or other entities in Iraq.


        46       Rather, the allegation seems to have been reformulated into


        47       an inquiry which we see set out in the specific request at
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         1       page 0006.  Would you agree with that?


         2       A.   If I could just clarify - no, I do not.


         3


         4       Q.   Okay.  Perhaps you can explain it by reference to this


         5       circumstance, that the allegations as you've recorded them


         6       were of 10 per cent kickbacks to the Iraqi Government or


         7       other entities in Iraq.  We cannot find amongst the WEA


         8       documents any reference to that precise allegation having


         9       been put to the AWBI for a response in those terms.


        10       A.   That is correct, I do not know that there was a


        11       specific request in those terms, but I do know that it was


        12       an issue that was addressed during the discussions with


        13       AWBI at that 11 August meeting.


        14


        15       Q.   Well, that's a matter I can take up with Mr Charman,


        16       who was at the meeting, but I think you agree that there's


        17       no written request for information on that topic, defined,


        18       as it is, in your statement, as an allegation that


        19       10 per cent kickbacks to the Iraqi Government or other


        20       entities in Iraq may have been made?


        21       A.   That's correct.


        22


        23       Q.   Is there any record of precisely which contracts the


        24       WEA examined as part of this review?


        25       A.   No, I do not believe so.  What we have is the record


        26       which you have previously referred to prepared by


        27       Mr Charman arising from that meeting on 11 August.


        28


        29       Q.   If we go back to that, WEA.0002.0193, at 0194,


        30       paragraph 10, paragraph 11 reads:


        31


        32            The WEA read each document in the folder to


        33            verify that the details were consistent


        34            with information and data previously


        35            obtained...


        36


        37       Paragraph 12, over the page, reads:


        38


        39            There were two letters dated 22 November


        40            2003 from the WFP relating to contracts,


        41            A1670 and A1680, which stated that "WFP


        42            have been requested by the CPA [Coalition


        43            Provisional Authority] to deduct the after


        44            sales service fee of 10 percent on this


        45            contract".


        46


        47            . this was the documentation that some
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         1            media reports claimed was proof of


         2            10 percent "kickbacks" to the Iraqi


         3            regime...


         4


         5       Do you know where that statement came from?  Was that an


         6       AWBI statement or was it a conclusion of Mr Charman?


         7       A.   I do not know.


         8


         9       Q.


        10


        11            . The letters did not contain any reference


        12            to the rationale for the deduction nor any


        13            specific arrangements.


        14


        15       Do you know whether the contracts for 1670 and 1680 were


        16       ever examined by the WEA?


        17       A.   No, I do not.


        18


        19       Q.   Then Mr Charman sets out, in paragraph 13, further


        20       aspects of his examination.  We have exhibit 329, which we


        21       might bring up - WST.0004.0057, dated Tuesday, 24 August


        22       2004.  You'll see in the second line "They", which is a


        23       reference to the WEA:


        24


        25            ...have also requested a written


        26            explanation of the 10% reduction in prices


        27            requested by CPA.


        28


        29       And you'll see the request set out there.  Mr Sheridan asks


        30       Mr Hargreaves, another AWB employee, to provide that


        31       written explanation.  Do you know whether such a written


        32       explanation was ever provided to the WEA?


        33       A.   No, I couldn't categorically say.


        34


        35       Q.   You couldn't categorically say that it was ever


        36       provided?


        37       A.   No, I could not.


        38


        39       Q.   Have you made a search for it?


        40       A.   We have searched for all records under the notice that


        41       the WEA received, yes, and if we have not produced


        42       anything, then we have not been able to locate such a


        43       record.


        44


        45       Q.   Well, would that search have included this written


        46       request, the response to the request that we see set out in


        47       this email?
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         1       A.   It would have been a search for everything that we had


         2       related to Iraq, and we did also search all emails.


         3


         4       Q.   So is the answer to my question yes, the search would


         5       have been broad enough to encompass and to locate a


         6       response to the request we see set out in this email?


         7       A.   That is my belief, yes.


         8


         9       Q.   I can tell you that amongst the WEA documents that


        10       have been produced to the inquiry there is no such


        11       response.  Would that indicate to you that you were not


        12       able to locate such a response?


        13       A.   Yes.


        14


        15       Q.   Can you say when it was, if ever, that WEA became


        16       aware that it didn't have a response to that request?


        17       A.   No, I - this is the first I have seen that request


        18       referred to.


        19


        20       Q.   So, as you sit in the witness box - I'm not being


        21       critical of you, but really just searching for an


        22       answer - to this day you're not able to say that such a


        23       request was responded to in writing?


        24       A.   No, that's correct, I could not answer that.


        25


        26       Q.   Could I go to paragraph 34 of your statement.  We now


        27       have it electronically stored in the system, Mr Taylor.  If


        28       you go to paragraph 34, you say:


        29


        30            The Authority did not conduct an


        31            investigation into allegations of improper


        32            conduct under the Oil-for-Food Programme by


        33            AWBI.


        34


        35       What was the nature of the investigation or the review that


        36       was conducted by the authority?


        37       A.   The WEA was reviewing the AWBI material within the


        38       context of its performance monitoring functions and its


        39       performance monitoring framework which we operate under.


        40       That was primarily to look at the kind of material that was


        41       outlined in the information requirement schedule dated


        42       17 February, the first request, which was then further


        43       developed throughout the course of the year with further


        44       requests being made to AWBI in order to assess whether


        45       there may have been any impact on the pool returns and


        46       therefore the growers of AWBI sales to Iraq.


        47
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         1       Q.   Well, I suppose it gets back to the way in which you


         2       interpret the legislation.  I don't want to examine you


         3       about your interpretation of the legislation, but on one


         4       view, if you were required to monitor AWBI's performance in


         5       relation to the export of wheat and examine and report on


         6       the benefits to growers that result from that performance,


         7       you might be interested to examine whether or not the AWBI


         8       had in fact acted in breach of UN sanctions concerned with


         9       the export of wheat - would you disagree with that?


        10       A.   Yes, I would.


        11


        12       Q.   You would disagree with that as a matter of policy?


        13       A.   Yes, it would not be my view that the scope of the


        14       WEA's performance monitoring function would extend to


        15       AWBI's possible breach of UN policy under the


        16       UN Oil-for-Food Program.


        17


        18       Q.   Then at paragraph 35 you say:


        19


        20            The Authority did become aware of


        21            allegations of kick backs --


        22


        23       and they're the allegations we've just dealt with --


        24


        25            and reviewed certain aspects of AWBI's


        26            policies and conduct in the light of those


        27            allegations...


        28


        29       Then there are four matters set out which were the subject


        30       of the review:


        31


        32            (a) the AWBI's corporate conduct and code


        33            of ethics policy.


        34


        35       And then the identification of what agency payments may


        36       have been made.  Towards the bottom of that page you say


        37       that as to 35(a) and (b) there was assistance provided by


        38       an external consulting group Allens Consulting.  Did you


        39       get a written report from Allens Consulting?


        40       A.   I couldn't say definitely that we had a report from


        41       Allens Consulting, but I believe there was some email


        42       traffic which has been included in the material provided to


        43       the Commission.


        44


        45       Q.   But no written report as such?


        46       A.   Not as such.


        47
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         1       Q.   Just an exchange of emails?


         2       A.   Yes, but that material that was included in the


         3       exchange of emails is incorporated into the preparation of


         4       our annual performance monitoring reports.


         5


         6       Q.   Could we bring up from the 2004 performance monitoring


         7       report, which is WEA.0007.0001, page 0075.  The first


         8       paragraph reads:


         9


        10            The WEA notes recent press reports that


        11            suggest the US Defence Contract Audit


        12            Agency is querying whether an AWB(I)


        13            pre-war contract under the United Nations'


        14            Oil for Food Program was "potentially


        15            overpriced" by 11 per cent as a result of


        16            the provision of "kickbacks" alleged to


        17            have been provided to the Hussein regime.


        18            AWB Ltd denies any allegation of


        19            wrongdoing, pointing to the unique


        20            circumstances of Iraq sales (e.g. sales


        21            must include delivery of the wheat over


        22            land, and payment is not made until the


        23            wheat is delivered) to explain why it was


        24            necessary to pay a Jordanian trucking


        25            company and why prices may appear above


        26            global benchmarks.


        27


        28       Now, it would appear that the WEA is purporting to report


        29       upon the allegations and purporting to report upon its


        30       investigation of those allegations in this document.  Would


        31       you not agree with that?


        32       A.   Yes, that is correct.


        33


        34       Q.   Indeed, earlier in this report, at page 46, the report


        35       sets out:


        36


        37            The WEA is aware of media reports of an


        38            investigation into alleged kickbacks to the


        39            Iraq regime under Saddam Hussein.  This


        40            issue is discussed in section 2.5.1


        41            "Corporate Governance".


        42


        43       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        44


        45       Q.   So at least as a corporate governance issue it appears


        46       that the WEA did examine, or attempt to examine, the


        47       allegations of improper conduct, being the payment of
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         1       kickbacks and potentially overpriced contracts.


         2       A.   Correct.


         3


         4       Q.   How does that fit with your earlier evidence that it


         5       did not conduct an examination into allegations of improper


         6       conduct?


         7       A.   My statement refers to the WEA not conducting an


         8       investigation as such into improper conduct under the


         9       Oil-for-Food Program.


        10


        11       Q.   I just don't understand what you did do, given what we


        12       read in the report.  Your answer was:


        13


        14            It would not be my view that the scope of


        15            the WEA's performance monitoring function


        16            would extend to AWBI's possible breach of


        17            UN policy under the UN Oil-for-Food


        18            Program.


        19


        20       Yet it seems that that matter in relation to kickbacks, at


        21       least, was the subject of your report to the minister.


        22       A.   Yes, within the scope of the Wheat Export Authority's


        23       performance monitoring activities which do focus on the


        24       impact on the pool and the return to growers.


        25


        26       Q.   Well, if I put that in other words - perhaps you might


        27       comment on them - are you saying that the WEA's


        28       investigation looked at the question, or the allegations,


        29       of kickbacks not to determine whether or not kickbacks had


        30       been paid but to determine whether or not, even if they had


        31       been paid, there had been any impact on the FOB and the


        32       return to growers?


        33       A.   Our primary focus is on the pool and the returns to


        34       growers.  However, I would say if there was anything


        35       identified by the Wheat Export Authority about AWBI's


        36       conduct or activities in a market, from our assessment,


        37       then the WEA would have considered that it needed to refer


        38       that matter to other parties, who are more appropriately


        39       empowered to conduct an investigation such as the one I


        40       think you are inferring.


        41


        42       Q.   Just to get back to my use of layman's terms, are you


        43       saying that the WEA did not have a focus which was to


        44       identify whether or not kickbacks had been paid but,


        45       rather, its focus was to determine, regardless of what had


        46       happened, whether there had been any impact on the return


        47       to growers, and if in the course of pursuing that focus it
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         1       had found any evidence of kickbacks, it would have referred


         2       it, but it didn't?


         3       A.   I would agree with that statement.


         4


         5       Q.   It didn't find any evidence and it had nothing to


         6       refer?


         7       A.   Correct.


         8


         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   To whom would you refer such


        10       matters if you had found them?


        11       A.   I think in the first instance it would be a matter of


        12       reporting to government, to the Minister For Agriculture,


        13       and possibly referring it from that point on to other


        14       parties, such as the Director of Public Prosecutions.


        15


        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Was not corporate governance of AWBI a key


        17       reporting element?


        18       A.   Corporate governance is one of the performance


        19       indicators that the Wheat Export Authority had within its


        20       framework to report against, yes.


        21


        22       Q.   Did corporate governance include compliance with the


        23       law?


        24       A.   Because of how AWB is structured, and it has, as a


        25       commercial entity, responsibility to other agencies for


        26       compliance with commercial laws, the Wheat Export Authority


        27       viewed its corporate governance role as reporting on any


        28       known breaches of corporate governance arrangements which


        29       AWBI and L had to comply with.


        30


        31       Q.   I suppose that's why you asked for agency agreements,


        32       or agency payments, and had them examined?


        33       A.   That led from our inquiries regarding their


        34       corporate - governance and code of conduct and corporate


        35       ethics policy.


        36


        37       Q.   Would you acknowledge now that by restricting your


        38       inquiry to agency payments, you were really putting beyond


        39       your reach, unless it was volunteered by AWBI, any


        40       documentary evidence that other payments not characterised


        41       by AWBI as agency payments might have been made?


        42       A.   I'm sorry, sir, could I ask you to express that


        43       differently?


        44


        45       Q.   Well, it appears that the inquiry was, as we see in


        46       35(b), restricted to what agency payments may have been


        47       made in relation to the wheat sales.  What I'm putting to
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         1       you is that if AWBI didn't characterise any payments that


         2       had been made, any kickback payments that had been made, as


         3       agency payments then, unless it was otherwise volunteered,


         4       you'd never be able to find out that the kickback payments


         5       had been made.


         6       A.   That is a fair conclusion.


         7


         8       Q.   I'm sorry?


         9       A.   I believe that is a fair conclusion, a fair statement.


        10


        11       Q.   Let me put another proposition to you.  It was known,


        12       and I believe accepted, by the WEA that the contracts for


        13       the sale of wheat in which the WEA was interested for this


        14       review had been the subject of UN approval?


        15       A.   Correct.


        16


        17       Q.   And you had seen - not you personally, but the WEA had


        18       seen - a number of contracts together with evidence of the


        19       approvals and evidence of the export authorities that


        20       related to those contracts or the supply of wheat under


        21       those contracts?


        22       A.   Yes.


        23


        24       Q.   How was it thought that an examination of the approved


        25       contracts would reveal any evidence that any kickback


        26       payments had been paid?


        27       A.   I guess it was a starting point.  The first port of


        28       call was to review those contracts to see how the contracts


        29       may be structured, but to also check on the, as I said


        30       earlier, FOB return to the pool and the data that had been


        31       earlier provided to the Wheat Export Authority, to see if


        32       we were able to reconcile it.


        33


        34       Q.   The difficulty I have with that is that if you'd


        35       looked at any one of those contracts, bar three contracts


        36       in July of 1999 and one in October of 1999, you would not


        37       have seen any specific amount or any specific component set


        38       out in the contract; all you would have seen was a global


        39       price free in truck.


        40       A.   I don't know how the contracts were constructed, so I


        41       don't know the answer to that.


        42


        43       Q.   Perhaps I should take that up with Mr Charman.  The


        44       report to the minister of 2004, under the heading "Looking


        45       Ahead to the Next Reporting Period", records this:


        46


        47            The WEA will continue to monitor and report
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         1            on the ongoing developments in AWBI's


         2            corporate governance arrangements and the


         3            outcomes of any investigations into alleged


         4            payments made to the previous Iraqi regime.


         5


         6       Was it intended by that to indicate that the WEA had a


         7       continuing investigation into alleged payments to the


         8       previous Iraqi regime?


         9       A.   No.


        10


        11       Q.   Well, what was intended by that?


        12       A.   It was known at that stage that the UN were conducting


        13       an inquiry into alleged illegal payments under the


        14       Oil-for-Food Program and the Wheat Export Authority was


        15       maintaining a watching brief on the outcomes of that.


        16


        17       Q.   So just a matter of reporting to the minister the


        18       outcome of the Volcker Inquiry?


        19       A.   I believe it would be more than that, and the outcomes


        20       of the Volcker Inquiry and anything that was obviously an


        21       impact on the pool that WEA had identified.


        22


        23       Q.   The loss of the Iraq market is an impact on the pool,


        24       and looking at things broadly, if the AWBI was caught


        25       breaching sanctions, the loss of the Iraq market was always


        26       a possibility.  Was that not considered as within the


        27       purview, then, of the WEA?


        28       A.   It was --


        29


        30       Q.   Well, wouldn't that make it incumbent upon the WEA, on


        31       that view, to examine whether or not there had been


        32       breaches of sanctions as a matter of primary focus?


        33       A.   No, I don't believe that it did.


        34


        35       Q.   Even if a breach of sanctions was likely to result in


        36       an impact on the market?


        37       A.   The WEA understood there was a process that had been


        38       gone through with the Department of Foreign Affairs and


        39       Trade and the United Nations getting approval for the


        40       contracts under the Oil-for-Food Program, and those


        41       approvals had been received.  Insofar as potential impact


        42       on markets, then, yes, that is an issue for the Wheat


        43       Export Authority and one that we had previously sought


        44       advice from AWBI on.


        45


        46       Q.   But it would follow, wouldn't it, that if there was a


        47       system of kickbacks in place, one wouldn't expect either
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         1       the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade or the United


         2       Nations to be aware of it?


         3       A.   I don't know the answer to that question.  I would


         4       only be speculating.


         5


         6       Q.   Well, it's inimical to the whole idea of kickbacks,


         7       isn't it, to inform the agency that's imposing the


         8       sanctions that you're paying a kickback; wouldn't you agree


         9       with that?


        10       A.   Yes.


        11


        12       Q.   So the reliance upon any UN approval of contracts on


        13       this issue wouldn't assist, would it?


        14       A.   What I know is that there was a process in place that


        15       was being followed - we understood was being followed by


        16       AWB International, and that is what was reported to the


        17       Wheat Export Authority and what we reported in our report.


        18


        19       Q.   Does it come down to this, Mr Taylor - I don't say


        20       this in any way being critical of you or the WEA - that you


        21       had developed what you believed to be a relationship of


        22       trust with the AWBI and, to the extent to which you did


        23       review matters, it was against the background of that


        24       relationship of trust?


        25       A.   There was a relationship of trust, but there was also


        26       a process of trying to apply an additional level of rigour


        27       to the views and material that were provided by AWBI.


        28       Material provided by them was not just accepted and taken


        29       at face value generally.


        30


        31       Q.   Can you identify any element of that rigour in the


        32       inquiry?


        33       A.   Well, the Wheat Export Authority went to the AWBI


        34       offices and reviewed material relating to the contracts


        35       that had been entered into for Iraq.  We had --


        36


        37       Q.   The material we've seen set out in the four dot


        38       points?


        39       A.   In the file note.  We had looked at the corporate code


        40       of ethics and conduct policy and asked for any agency


        41       payments that may have been recorded under that policy,


        42       identified that there was nothing recorded for Iraq.


        43


        44       Q.   But how does that reflect itself as rigour in


        45       circumstances where the allegations that were made carried


        46       with them the strong inference that these payments were


        47       under the table payments; you just wouldn't expect them to
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         1       be conducted in accordance with any usual practice at the


         2       AWBI, you wouldn't expect them to be recorded in a


         3       contract, you wouldn't expect them to be disclosed to the


         4       UN.  In those circumstances, how is there any element of


         5       rigour in examining the documents that we see were


         6       examined?


         7       A.   The Wheat Export Authority had already previously


         8       undertaken a very comprehensive and detailed assessment of


         9       the costs of operating the international pool, and in that


        10       assessment we did not identify that there were any


        11       anomalies, insofar as the costs being charged to the pool


        12       were anything unusual, and we were able to confirm for our


        13       purposes what those costs were.


        14


        15            So we had that as some background, plus the additional


        16       work that was undertaken specific to Iraq under the WEA's


        17       performance monitoring framework, to try to assess whether


        18       there appeared to be any validity to some of the


        19       allegations that were being made, also with the background


        20       that the Volcker Inquiry had been announced and that it was


        21       conducting a detailed investigation into the allegations.


        22


        23       Q.   But you had a statutory responsibility, regardless of


        24       what the Volcker Inquiry was going to do, and you had


        25       statutory powers to require provision of information and


        26       documents.  Did it occur to anybody to speak to the people


        27       who'd actually negotiated the arrangements with the Iraqis


        28       to find out whether they had negotiated any kickback


        29       payment?


        30       A.   When you say "the people", are you talking about the


        31       AWBI people?


        32


        33       Q.   If there were any AWBI people?


        34       A.   I don't believe there was a direct discussion with the


        35       international sales and marketing team, but we were aware


        36       of AWBI's denials of any wrongdoing from discussions with


        37       AWBI ourselves and material that they had circulated in the


        38       public arena.


        39


        40       Q.   It seems to boil down to this, Mr Taylor, that you


        41       asked the AWBI to produce certain documents, which we've


        42       seen; they told you that they hadn't been in breach of the


        43       sanctions, hadn't been paying kickbacks; having looked at


        44       the documents, you took them at their word?


        45       A.   After going through our process and having a look at


        46       the material that had been made available, yes.


        47
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         1       Q.   Do you wish now you'd conducted the investigation or


         2       the review differently?


         3       A.   Hindsight is a terrific thing, Mr Agius.  In


         4       hindsight, I would have done a lot of things differently.


         5


         6       Q.   We know that Austrade became aware early in the year


         7       2000 of allegations made by a third party country, which we


         8       now know to be Canada, that AWB were inflating the price of


         9       contracts and otherwise engaging in activity which would


        10       have amounted to a breach of sanctions.  I see from your


        11       statement that Austrade was one of the authorities or one


        12       of the sources upon which the WEA relied for information.


        13       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        14


        15       Q.   Do you know whether that information about alleged


        16       irregularities in early 2000 was ever passed to the WEA?


        17       A.   It was not.


        18


        19       Q.   We know that contracts 1670 and 1680 were approved by


        20       the UN and then went through a renegotiation process and


        21       that the WFP insisted on a reduction of 10 per cent of the


        22       contract price.  We also know that, even after the


        23       deduction of the 10 per cent, there was still included


        24       within the renegotiated contract prices for 1670 and 1680


        25       two components - one, a $25 trucking fee which had earlier


        26       been arranged with the IGB; and, two, a fee of US$8-odd


        27       per metric tonne which the AWB was collecting on behalf of


        28       Tigris to repay a debt.  Did the WEA ever become aware of


        29       those two elements after the renegotiation of the contracts


        30       1670 and 1680?


        31       A.   No.


        32


        33       Q.   I take it you weren't aware of them before the


        34       renegotiation of the contracts?


        35       A.   Correct, I was not aware.


        36


        37       Q.   And they were never disclosed by the AWBI to the WEA?


        38       A.   That's correct.


        39


        40       Q.   Did the WEA ever subject those contracts, 1670 and


        41       1680, to any analysis by experts to determine whether or


        42       not, on their face, the price per tonne for wheat of that


        43       grade and quality was reasonable - that is, the price per


        44       tonne as disclosed on the face of the contracts?


        45       A.   No, we never had access to - as far as I'm aware, to


        46       those specific contracts.  So the answer to your specific


        47       question is no.
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         1


         2       Q.   Did you ever undertake that exercise for any other


         3       contracts that fell within the period of interest to the


         4       WEA, the period subject to the review?


         5       A.   We do have a process of assessing the performance of


         6       AWBI in achieving returns to the pool.  That's all done on


         7       a FOB basis.  That is the data which the AWBI regularly


         8       provide to the Wheat Export Authority.


         9


        10       Q.   So to the extent that you examine the reasonableness


        11       of the prices, you look at the FOB value?


        12       A.   Correct.


        13


        14       Q.   Of course, that wouldn't disclose the reasonableness


        15       of a price calculated on another basis, which might include


        16       such matters as trucking fees or components to recoup debts


        17       due under other contracts?


        18       A.   That's correct.


        19


        20       MR AGIUS:   That's the examination of Mr Taylor,


        21       Mr Commissioner.


        22


        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robinson, do you have any questions?


        24


        25       MR ROBINSON:   No, your Honour.


        26


        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?


        28


        29       MR JUDD:   Yes, sir.


        30


        31       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:


        32


        33       MR JUDD:   Q.   Mr Taylor, perhaps we could go back to


        34       exhibit 468.  That's WEA.0002.0193.  This is the record of


        35       meeting between AWBI and WEA on 11 August 2004.  You recall


        36       that record?


        37       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        38


        39       Q.   Incidentally, I should say that we appear on behalf of


        40       AWB.


        41


        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   And AWBI.


        43


        44       MR JUDD:   Q.   And AWBI, I'm sorry.  I use it as the


        45       collective.  Could we go back to paragraph 10.  You've been


        46       asked some questions about that already.  Of the 17


        47       contracts that are referred to there in the first dot point
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         1       under paragraph 10, do you have any knowledge of the


         2       periods of time within which those contracts were made, or


         3       the period of time covered by those contracts?


         4       A.   No, not - no.


         5


         6       Q.   So it's a matter that your colleague Mr Charman would


         7       certainly have knowledge of?


         8       A.   Yes.


         9


        10       Q.   If you turn that page and look at paragraph 12,


        11       there's a reference there to contracts 1670 and 1680 in


        12       connection with proposed reduction of 10 per cent.  Given


        13       that there is a process of inspection of contracts being


        14       undertaken by the WEA, you would expect those two contracts


        15       to be of particular interest, wouldn't you?


        16       A.   Given that reference, yes.


        17


        18       Q.   But you're unable to say whether those two contracts


        19       are included within the 17 contracts referred to in


        20       paragraph 10?


        21       A.   That is correct.


        22


        23       Q.   Could I ask if you were provided with at any stage a


        24       copy of the document exhibit 330.  It's the briefing note,


        25       which is dated 10 August 2004.  I don't have the correct


        26       number for it, sir, other than the exhibit number, which is


        27       330.


        28


        29       MR AGIUS:   Is that WEA.0001.0052?


        30


        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I think it is.


        32


        33       MR AGIUS:   It's dated 10 August 2004, WEA.0001.0052.


        34       That's the document I took the witness to.


        35


        36       MR JUDD:   Yes.


        37


        38       Q.   That's a document that you have some recollection of


        39       having read; is that right?


        40       A.   Correct.


        41


        42       Q.   Is that the document that you have a recollection of


        43       having read at about the time it was made; that is, in


        44       about August?


        45       A.   No.


        46


        47       Q.   That's one that you believe you saw for the first time
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         1       in December, or thereabouts?


         2       A.   Yes.


         3


         4       Q.   I understand you said to my friend that it was


         5       possible or indeed likely that you read it at the time, but


         6       you have no recollection.


         7       A.   Yes.


         8


         9       Q.   There's no doubt, is there, that in about August of


        10       2004 you were familiar with the United Nations sanction


        11       regime as it applied to Iraq?


        12       A.   I had some familiarity, but I certainly wasn't fully


        13       briefed or an expert on it.


        14


        15       Q.   You understood that Australia had some international


        16       obligations in relation to adhering to the sanctions


        17       imposed by the United Nations?


        18       A.   Yes.


        19


        20       Q.   So that, insofar as contracts may be entered into


        21       under the Oil-for-Food Program, it was a necessary


        22       ingredient of those contracts that they conform with the


        23       sanction regime and be approved by the United Nations?


        24       A.   Yes.


        25


        26       Q.   The examination referred to in the record of meeting


        27       of 11 August that I first took you to, paragraph 10, was a


        28       process, wasn't it, of looking for evidence of inflated


        29       prices or kickbacks?


        30       A.   What the authority was primarily concerned to do was


        31       to look at the integrity and reliability of the data


        32       previously provided by the Wheat Export Authority for its


        33       performance monitoring function.  We had heard these


        34       allegations and wanted to be sure - confident that our


        35       results from our performance monitoring activities were


        36       sound.  If during that process we were able to identify


        37       anything in addition, then that would have been the subject


        38       matter of this record note as well.


        39


        40       Q.   So perhaps this traverses some questions that my


        41       friend asked, but your position is that it's only if


        42       someone happened to volunteer evidence or you happened upon


        43       some information that you would take any action in relation


        44       to it?


        45       A.   Yes, having noted that the Wheat Export Authority had


        46       asked a series of questions of AWB International that it


        47       considered relevant to its performance monitoring function.





            .3/3/06 (39)               3888     G F TAYLOR (Mr Judd)


                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters


�















         1


         2       Q.   So is your evidence that this particular examination


         3       that was being undertaken did not concern or was not


         4       directed to ascertaining whether or not any of these


         5       contracts included a component which might be described as


         6       an inflated price or a kickback?


         7       A.   If that issue arose, then my expectation would have


         8       been that it was reported back to the Wheat Export


         9       Authority.


        10


        11       Q.   How did you expect it might arise?


        12       A.   Through the review of the material that was provided


        13       by AWB International.


        14


        15       Q.   The process of review that was being undertaken was


        16       one of inspection of contracts, wasn't it?


        17       A.   And any other relevant material, associated material,


        18       that AWBI had included subsequent to the WEA request.


        19


        20       Q.   Do you know if any other inquiries or relevant


        21       information were sought or provided, apart from the


        22       contract information described to you in paragraph 10 of


        23       this document?


        24       A.   I do not know.


        25


        26       Q.   You've given some evidence about the information that


        27       the Wheat Export Authority had available to it, and my


        28       friend took you to a market brief including some price


        29       components that formed part of the price build-up.


        30       A.   Mmm.


        31


        32       Q.   My recollection of your evidence is that you conceded


        33       you had available, first of all, the FOB price; correct?


        34       A.   Correct.


        35


        36       Q.   You had available the insurance and freight elements?


        37       A.   There was some information on insurance and freight,


        38       yes.


        39


        40       Q.   With the availability of the contracts under review on


        41       11 August you, of course, had available to you the full


        42       contract price, the grossed-up price?


        43       A.   I do not know the answer to that question.


        44


        45       Q.   Did anyone return from that examination and report to


        46       you their observations in relation to those particular


        47       contracts apart from what we find set out in this record of
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         1       meeting?


         2       A.   No, my recollection is that the record of meeting was


         3       the essence of the report back to the Wheat Export


         4       Authority.


         5


         6       Q.   Did anyone report to you that, having regard to the


         7       information available to you - the FOB price, the freight,


         8       the insurance - that there was a significant and


         9       identifiable component unexplained when compared with the


        10       gross contract price?  Was that told to you by anyone?


        11       A.   No, I don't believe so.  I don't believe we had the


        12       gross contract - I don't know that we had the gross


        13       contract price.


        14


        15       Q.   You don't believe that you had a gross contract price?


        16       A.   I don't know that we were provided a gross contract


        17       price.


        18


        19       MR JUDD:   Thank you.


        20


        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anything arising, Mr Robinson?


        22


        23       MR ROBINSON:   Nothing arising.


        24


        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?


        26


        27       MR AGIUS:   Nothing.


        28


        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any reason why this witness


        30       shouldn't be excused?


        31


        32       MR AGIUS:   There's no reason.  Perhaps we should await the


        33       evidence of the next two witnesses from the WEA.  Then, as


        34       I expect, we'll be able to excuse all three at the same


        35       time.


        36


        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Thank you very much,


        38       Mr Taylor.  I'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.


        39


        40       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW


        41


        42       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT


        43


        44


        45


        46


        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:


         2


         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Charman is before the Commission.


         4


         5       <TERENCE HOWARD CHARMAN sworn:          [2.06pm]


         6


         7       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


         8


         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might we have your full name, please,


        10       Mr Charman?


        11       A.   Terence Howard Charman.


        12


        13       Q.   You appear here in answer to a notice requiring your


        14       attendance?


        15       A.   That's correct.


        16


        17       Q.   We have a statement from you, Mr Charman.  It should


        18       be on our system by now.  Could I bring up, please,


        19       WST.0018.0029.  That's the first page of your statement of


        20       2 March 2006.  Could we go to the last page, 0033.  Can you


        21       confirm that that is a copy of your statement?


        22       A.   I can, yes.


        23


        24       Q.   Are the contents of it true and correct to the best of


        25       your knowledge and belief?


        26       A.   That's correct.


        27


        28       EXHIBIT #495 STATEMENT OF TERENCE HOWARD CHARMAN


        29       DATED 2/3/2006 AND ANNEXURE A, BARCODED WST.0018.0029-0036


        30


        31       MR AGIUS:   Could I include with that annexure A.  The


        32       exhibit runs from WST.0018.0029 through to and inclusive of


        33       0036.


        34


        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.


        36


        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have a copy with you?


        38       A.   I do, yes.


        39


        40       Q.   In paragraph 5 you refer to the WEA becoming aware of


        41       reports in the national press of allegations of kickbacks


        42       being paid by AWB to the Saddam Hussein regime.  Were those


        43       allegations made by the US Wheat Associates?


        44       A.   That's my understanding.  I don't recall exactly what


        45       the content of the press releases were, but that's my


        46       understanding.


        47
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         1       Q.   Did you ever see the AWB response to the US Wheat


         2       Associates?  Might I bring up AWB.0214.0001 - exhibit 88.


         3


         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can we scroll up, please?


         5


         6       THE WITNESS:   I don't recall that exact document.  I do


         7       recall seeing a document that AWBI sent to us, which dealt


         8       with the US Wheat Associates' claims.


         9


        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, then, WEA.0009.0020.


        11       This is part of confidential exhibit 162, which I tendered


        12       this morning.  It is a fax, copied to you, and if we go to


        13       the next page, 0021?


        14       A.   Yes, I do recall that document.


        15


        16       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I understand this is already a


        17       public exhibit.


        18


        19       Q.   You say that subsequent to the reports there was a


        20       briefing and, as a result, in February 2004 there was a


        21       board resolution.


        22       A.   That's correct.


        23


        24       Q.   Could we bring up, please, the minutes of the WEA


        25       board meeting of 11-12 February 2004, WEA.0002.0012.  May


        26       we take it that you attended this board meeting?


        27       A.   Yes, I did.


        28


        29       Q.   If we go to page 0014, the paragraph numbered 7, is it


        30       there that we find the reference to the review?


        31       A.   Yes; that's correct.


        32


        33       Q.  :


        34


        35            To provide Members with an opportunity to


        36            consider the issues to be examined by the


        37            WEA during the 2003-04 monitoring period,


        38            including those arising from preliminary


        39            investigation and analysis for the 2002-03


        40            PMRR Report.


        41            . The Allen Consulting Group...were in


        42            attendance for this agenda item.


        43


        44       And then the decision:


        45


        46            agreed on the key issues to be examined for


        47            the 2003-04 PMRR Report and identified two
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         1            additional items to be incorporated into


         2            the WEA's work plan:


         3            > analysis of AWBI policies and procedures


         4            in regard to its relationship and conduct


         5            in the Iraq market;


         6            > expansion of the analysis of pool costs


         7            to clearly identify which costs are


         8            reflected in the Service Level Agreements


         9            and remuneration arrangements and which


        10            costs are additional to the pools.


        11


        12       That is a fairly broad description of the work plan, is it


        13       not?


        14       A.   Yes, they were two additional items to be added to the


        15       work plan.


        16


        17       Q.   Are you aware of any process by which that first arrow


        18       point, "Analysis of AWBI policies and procedures in regard


        19       to its relationship and conduct in the Iraq market", was


        20       narrowed?


        21       A.   No.


        22


        23       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender the WEA board minutes


        24       for the meeting of 11 and 12 February as a confidential


        25       exhibit, save for that portion that I have read on to the


        26       record.


        27


        28       EXHIBIT #163C WEA BOARD MINUTES FOR MEETING


        29       DATED 11-12/2/2004, BARCODED WEA.0002.0012


        30


        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is confidential subject to the


        32       portions read on to the record.


        33


        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Then you go on to say in your statement


        35       that you used the information requirement schedule in the


        36       course of this review.  To that end, can we bring up


        37       WEA.0010.0006.  Was this designed to reflect the nature of


        38       the WEA's investigation or review?


        39       A.   Yes.  That would have been a formal record of what we


        40       had asked AWBI for in the context of the review.


        41


        42       Q.   We follow that there was production in respect of


        43       those requests.  I want to bring you to the minutes of the


        44       WEA board meeting on 30 June 2004.  Could we bring up,


        45       please, WEA.0002.0027.  You will see under "Agenda Item 1"


        46       there is a dot point commencing with the word "Action".


        47       You were a member of the secretariat?
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         1       A.   I was.


         2


         3       Q.  :


         4


         5            The Secretariat requested copies of


         6            contracts with Iraq, variations to


         7            contracts, letters of credit and any other


         8            documents that AWBI considers relevant to


         9            their dealings with Iraq and the oil for


        10            food program.


        11


        12       I take it you can see that on the list of items requiring


        13       follow-up action?


        14       A.   I can, yes.


        15


        16       Q.   Was that request passed on to the AWBI?


        17       A.   Yes, it was also included in the information


        18       requirement schedule.


        19


        20       Q.   I just don't see any reference to any other documents


        21       that AWBI considers relevant to their dealings with Iraq


        22       and the Oil-for-Food Program in that IRS sheet.  We can go


        23       back to it.  It is WEA.0010.0006.


        24       A.   No, that's correct.


        25


        26       Q.   So, aside from what we see on the IRS sheet, was there


        27       any separate request to the AWBI asking for production of


        28       any other documents that it - that is, the AWBI -


        29       considered relevant to its dealings with Iraq and the


        30       Oil-for-Food Program?


        31       A.   There may have been.  There may have been an email


        32       that was sent which documented what we required.  We


        33       generally relied on the information requirements schedule,


        34       but there would, at the very least, have been a discussion


        35       between myself and Steve Sheridan as to what we were


        36       looking for and why.


        37


        38       Q.   I imagine that if there had been such an email, then


        39       searches at WEA would have revealed it?


        40       A.   That's correct.


        41


        42       Q.   Or, indeed, searches at AWB?


        43       A.   Correct.


        44


        45       Q.   We can operate on the basis, Mr Charman, that we have


        46       not been able to locate such an email.  Can you tell us


        47       anything of any conversation that you had with Mr Sheridan
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         1       about this action dot point, if we go back to


         2       WEA.0002.0027?


         3       A.   I can't recall any exact nature of a conversation.  It


         4       was my practice, when dealing with such issues, that


         5       I would talk to Steve Sheridan about what we were trying to


         6       do, why we were trying to do it, what sort of information


         7       we would require, and I would also ask if he considered


         8       there was anything additional that we may have not asked


         9       for that he could provide.


        10


        11       Q.   Did you maintain a day book or a notebook in which you


        12       made notes?


        13       A.   No.


        14


        15       Q.   Did you keep any electronic copy of any notes?


        16       A.   No, only copies of emails and other official documents


        17       that would have been prepared.


        18


        19       Q.   We have an August briefing paper, dated 10 August


        20       2004, which you may have seen on the screen during the


        21       course of the morning, and then we have a record of meeting


        22       with AWBI on 11 August 2004.  What can you recall of the


        23       circumstances that led to the creation of this 10 August


        24       briefing paper?


        25       A.   Could I see the 10 August briefing paper?


        26


        27       Q.   I am sorry, yes.  Could we bring up WEA.0001.0052.


        28       A.   I'm not aware of the circumstances of the preparation


        29       of the document, neither have I a recollection of when


        30       I received that document.  I do recall that the document


        31       has been provided to the WEA.


        32


        33       Q.   Had it been provided at about the time that it is


        34       dated - 10 August 2004?


        35       A.   It is a consistent time, but I can't say for certain


        36       that it was given to me at that meeting or subsequently.


        37


        38       Q.   Well, we can see it is dated the day before your


        39       meeting, but you have no note in the record of the meeting


        40       of having received such a document.


        41       A.   That's correct.


        42


        43       Q.   All you can do at this stage is, what, say that the


        44       WEA did receive it at some time?


        45       A.   That's correct.


        46


        47       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, might I just have a moment - and
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         1       I apologise for interrupting - to show my friend a copy


         2       document which I have, which has a handwritten note on it.


         3


         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.


         5


         6       MR JUDD:   The copy I have - I can't quite say where it


         7       came from - has an endorsement on the top which says


         8       "Handed to Charman" and a date.  I don't know whose


         9       handwriting it is.


        10


        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.


        12


        13       MR AGIUS:   I will read it on to the record, and I am


        14       obliged to my friend for providing it.  In block letter


        15       handwriting, "Pages 1 to 3 handed to Terry Charman


        16       11 August 04".


        17


        18       MR JUDD:   Could we perhaps have a copy made of that and


        19       have it returned?


        20


        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.


        22


        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I take it your recollection isn't any


        24       better after the benefit of hearing that note read?


        25       A.   No, I am sorry.


        26


        27       Q.   During the course of this meeting on 11 August did you


        28       make notes?


        29       A.   I would have made some notes, yes - handwritten notes


        30       during the course of the meeting.


        31


        32       Q.   And did you retain them?


        33       A.   No.  When I left - when I retired from the Wheat


        34       Export Authority I actually destroyed copies of my


        35       handwritten notes and notebooks.


        36


        37       Q.   May we take it, then, you are reliant upon your


        38       recollection and this typewritten record of the meeting --


        39       A.   That's correct.


        40


        41       Q.   -- and nothing else?


        42       A.   Correct.


        43


        44       Q.   Could we go to page 0194.  That's WEA.0002.0194.  This


        45       is exhibit 468.  Could we go, perhaps, to the previous


        46       page, 0193.  In the purpose of the meeting there is no


        47       record of the issue of kickbacks or payments being made to
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         1       the Iraqi regime.  There are two dot points set out.  Had


         2       that been a matter of discussion between yourself and


         3       Mr Sheridan or anybody else at the AWBI?


         4       A.   Only from the perspective that that was the starting


         5       point for us doing a review of the contracts.


         6


         7       Q.   So do you mean that some time prior to 11 August you


         8       had had such a conversation?


         9       A.   That's correct, yes.


        10


        11       Q.   So was there any doubt in your mind that as at


        12       11 August 2004 Mr Sheridan had an understanding that one of


        13       the matters you were looking at was this question of


        14       whether or not the AWBI had been involved in the payment of


        15       any kickbacks to the Iraqi regime?


        16       A.   No, that's not the case, because I wasn't actually


        17       down there investigating whether there had been kickbacks.


        18       My brief in going down there was to determine whether


        19       activities relating to AWBI's sales into Iraq, including


        20       under the Oil-for-Food Program - whether there was anything


        21       in there that indicated anomalies which would affect


        22       returns to the national pool.


        23


        24       Q.   So were you concerned to find any evidence of


        25       kickbacks being paid by the AWB to Iraq?


        26       A.   If there had been any evidence, yes, I would have been


        27       concerned.


        28


        29       Q.   But was it one of the things you were looking for?


        30       A.   The allegations of kickbacks was a trigger for us


        31       going down and having a look at the contracts.


        32


        33       Q.   But were you looking for evidence of kickbacks?


        34       A.   Not specifically, no.


        35


        36       Q.   What specifically were you looking for?


        37       A.   I was looking for whether there was anything in the


        38       contracts that was inconsistent with the information and


        39       the data that we had previously been provided and whether


        40       there was anything in the contracts and any associated


        41       documents which would cause any detriment to returns to the


        42       national pool.


        43


        44       Q.   And by "detriment to returns to the national pool",


        45       are you speaking of a dollar detriment in the FOB price, or


        46       are you speaking more broadly than that?


        47       A.   No, it would be more broadly than that - if there was
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         1       evidence of any payments which were being made directly


         2       from the national pool, outside of any FOB arrangements,


         3       and also any arrangements which reflected back on to the


         4       FOB price that was determined.


         5


         6       Q.   Well, for example, if the pool was funding a


         7       commission to ship owners, the commission being a handling


         8       fee for the payment of trucking fees to a Jordanian


         9       trucking company, is that something you would have been


        10       looking for?


        11       A.   If there was a payment directly from the national


        12       pool, in association with the sale of wheat, which reduced


        13       the value of the returns to growers from the national pool,


        14       yes, I would have been interested.


        15


        16       Q.   And when you say "which reduced the value of the


        17       returns to the national pool", what do you mean?


        18       A.   The returns to the national pool are determined by two


        19       things.  One is the FOB price, so there is the actual net


        20       return to the pool from the sale of wheat, and then there


        21       are costs taken from the pool to pay for various services


        22       and activities, including payments to AWB Limited for the


        23       services they provide.


        24


        25       Q.   Would you not then be looking at those additional


        26       costs?


        27       A.   If they were additional costs that were directly from


        28       the pool, yes, but in the case of these contracts, they


        29       were additional services paid for by the customer, so they


        30       were not taken directly from the pool - the net return to


        31       the pool was after those costs had been taken out from the


        32       sale of the wheat.


        33


        34       Q.   Paid for by the customer in the sense that they had


        35       been factored in to the sale price?


        36       A.   That's correct, yes.


        37


        38       Q.   So if a kickback had been factored in to the sale


        39       price, to be recouped from the escrow account, you would


        40       not be interested in that?


        41       A.   I would be interested if I had seen it, yes.


        42


        43       Q.   If you had seen it you would be interested in it, but


        44       you weren't looking for it?


        45       A.   That's correct.


        46


        47       Q.   Would you have expected, if it had occurred, the AWBI
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         1       to have told you, if there was no impact on the pool?


         2       A.   Yes.


         3


         4       Q.   Why?


         5       A.   Because we had asked for any documentation that was


         6       relevant to what we were pursuing.  If there had been truth


         7       in the allegation, as we saw it at the time, then I would


         8       have expected that that would have been put on the table.


         9


        10       Q.   And this request, when you say you had asked for that,


        11       you are referring here to the conversation that you believe


        12       you had with Mr Sheridan?


        13       A.   The trigger for the review to be undertaken, yes.


        14


        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Were you ever told by anyone from


        16       AWB that the company had itself conducted or was conducting


        17       an inquiry in relation to the payment of kickbacks?


        18       A.   No.


        19


        20       Q.   Was Project Rose ever mentioned to you?


        21       A.   No.


        22


        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you start drafting the record of this


        24       meeting whilst the meeting was taking place?


        25       A.   No, when I returned to Canberra I drafted the note.


        26


        27       Q.   But whilst you were in Melbourne you made some notes


        28       which were incorporated in this record of meeting?


        29       A.   That's correct.


        30


        31       Q.   Can I take you to paragraph 10, at page 0194.  You say


        32       you were provided with a folder for perusal.  Is it the


        33       case that you were not permitted to make any copies or


        34       retain any copies of any documents that you saw?


        35       A.   That's correct, yes.


        36


        37       Q.   And that was by arrangement with the AWBI?


        38       A.   That came out from a meeting between the two boards in


        39       late July 2004.


        40


        41       Q.   Do you have a record of the dates of any of the 17


        42       contracts that you looked at?


        43       A.   No, I don't.


        44


        45       Q.   Is there one anywhere, to your knowledge?


        46       A.   Not to my knowledge, no.


        47
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         1       Q.   I would ask you the same question about the next two


         2       categories:  is there any record, to your knowledge, of the


         3       certification of export details by the Department of


         4       Foreign Affairs and Trade that you saw?


         5       A.   No.


         6


         7       Q.   Is there any record that you are aware of any


         8       authorisation letters of the UN Oil-for-Food Program for


         9       each contract?


        10       A.   No.


        11


        12       Q.   Or any records of any variations to the contracts that


        13       you are aware of?


        14       A.   No.


        15


        16       Q.   Can you tell us - and perhaps we will go to the next


        17       page, 0195 - whether or not you ever saw the two contracts


        18       referred to in paragraph 12 - that's A1670 and A1680?


        19       A.   I don't recall seeing them, but I don't recall the


        20       detail of any of the contracts in the folder either.


        21


        22       Q.   It does appear that you saw two letters from the WFP


        23       relating to those contracts?


        24       A.   That's correct, yes.


        25


        26       Q.   But you do not recall seeing the contracts themselves?


        27       A.   No.  May I say, that doesn't mean that they weren't


        28       there, it just means I don't recall the detail of the


        29       contracts within the folder.


        30


        31       Q.   I suppose it follows that, if you did see contracts


        32       1670 and 1680, you wouldn't know whether you had seen them


        33       after they had been renegotiated or before?


        34       A.   That's correct.


        35


        36       Q.   Did you see them at any later time?


        37       A.   No.


        38


        39       Q.   So if you didn't see contracts on this occasion, you


        40       never saw them?


        41       A.   That's correct.


        42


        43       Q.   How was it you were able to come to a conclusion that


        44       there had not been an impact on the FOB?


        45       A.   The data that was available to me at that meeting was


        46       that all of the arrangements for sales into Iraq were after


        47       the FOB price - so they were additional services provided
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         1       to - provided with the delivery of the wheat, and therefore


         2       were on top of the FOB price, so the FOB price was


         3       unaffected.


         4


         5       Q.   And when you say "the data that was available to me",


         6       are you speaking of the material we see listed in these


         7       four dot points?


         8       A.   The contracts, the variations, the letters from the


         9       WFP and the letters from Foreign Affairs and Trade, yes.


        10


        11       Q.   None of those contracts or other documents, with the


        12       exception of, if you saw them, three contracts from July


        13       1999 and one from October of 1999, recorded anything other


        14       than a grossed-up price for the sale of wheat free in


        15       truck.  The contracts did not in fact reflect any specific


        16       sums on account of any element above the FOB price.


        17       A.   I don't recall.


        18


        19       Q.   If you would just accept that from me, unless you saw


        20       a completely different set of contracts, and nobody


        21       suggests you did.


        22       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        23


        24       Q.   If you accept from me that all you would have seen in


        25       respect of most of the contracts that you saw - and if you


        26       didn't see the July and October 1999 contracts, then all of


        27       the contracts that you would have seen - would not have


        28       recorded any specific amount in addition to the FOB price


        29       and would not have disclosed the FOB price; they simply


        30       would have disclosed a grossed-up price which was free in


        31       truck.


        32       A.   Mmm.


        33


        34       Q.   If that is what you saw, how would you have been able


        35       to determine that none of the add-ons would have affected


        36       the FOB?


        37       A.   Because we had the contract data in the office, which


        38       confirmed the FOB price.


        39


        40       Q.   And of course you would have seen that the FOB price


        41       was less than the free in truck price?


        42       A.   Correct.


        43


        44       Q.   And was that all you needed to know to be assured that


        45       the execution of those contracts had not had an adverse


        46       effect on the FOB?


        47       A.   Yes, that's correct.
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         1


         2       Q.   So once you saw that the margin between the free in


         3       truck price and the FOB price was sufficient to cover the


         4       sorts of things you might have expected, that was


         5       sufficient for you to be satisfied that there had been no


         6       impact on the FOB price?


         7       A.   That's correct, yes.


         8


         9       Q.   And you didn't look beyond that?


        10       A.   Not to my recollection, no.


        11


        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't understand how that could


        13       produce that result.  You have a figure, which you say you


        14       knew from the office, for the FOB price; you have another


        15       figure which is larger than that; you don't know what the


        16       ingredients of the difference is.  How does it establish


        17       the accuracy of the FOB price which you had from the


        18       office?


        19       A.   Because the FOB price is consistent with additional


        20       services that had been added on to create a price of sale


        21       with those additional services.


        22


        23       Q.   But you didn't know what those services were and you


        24       didn't know what the prices for each of those services


        25       were?


        26       A.   No, no, that's true.


        27


        28       Q.   So the two just don't relate.


        29       A.   But we had the contract data, which confirmed what FOB


        30       price was achieved at the national pool, and in most


        31       circumstances that FOB price achieved was either on a par


        32       or higher than the target.  So AWBI was achieving --


        33


        34       Q.   So your concern wasn't to establish the true FOB


        35       price, but to determine that it was higher than a target


        36       which had previously been set?


        37       A.   My role was to determine whether the information in


        38       the contracts was consistent, and at the time it appeared


        39       to me it was.


        40


        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I remain bemused as to how you could do


        42       the maths.


        43


        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could I give you a hypothetical example,


        45       and I am not using real figures deliberately because of


        46       commercial in confidence reasons.  Let's assume that an FOB


        47       price was $150, and a free in truck price was $200.
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         1       A.   Yes.


         2


         3       Q.   We can use dollars or Euros, it is immaterial.  And


         4       you had a benchmark price, or a target price, of $149 or


         5       $148 or $150.  If you saw data which disclosed no more than


         6       those facts that I have just given you, would that have


         7       satisfied you - would that have satisfied your review?


         8       A.   At that time, yes, I believe it would.


         9


        10       Q.   Without knowing - and I don't say this to be critical


        11       of you, I'm just trying to understand the process - what


        12       were the categories of expenses that made up that $50


        13       between the FOB price and the free in truck price?  You nod


        14       your head.  Do you mean yes?


        15       A.   Yes.


        16


        17       Q.   So you wouldn't need to know whether included in that


        18       $50 was a kickback, an inflated price to cover a debt that


        19       was being recovered, or a payment that was being made under


        20       the guise of a trucking fee which might in fact be a


        21       payment to the Iraqis - you wouldn't need to know any of


        22       that?


        23       A.   At that stage, no.


        24


        25       Q.   It would follow, would it not, that, absent some


        26       admission by AWBI, you would never have been in a position,


        27       with that approach, to identify whether or not the


        28       contracts were of a kind that they might disguise a


        29       kickback?


        30       A.   That's correct.


        31


        32       Q.   Now, without the knowledge of the break-up of that


        33       extra $50 in my hypothetical example, you would not know


        34       whether or not the AWBI might have achieved a better FOB


        35       price, would you?


        36       A.   That's correct, yes.


        37


        38       Q.   And I take it you would say that was not part of your


        39       inquiry?


        40       A.   Yes.


        41


        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But it must have been, if you were


        43       trying to verify the FOB price that you already had from


        44       the office - you could only do that by taking the contract


        45       price, deducting the various expenses from it, to produce


        46       what was the true FOB price for that contract?


        47       A.   Yes, Commissioner.
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         1


         2       Q.   It might have been 150, or it might have been 160, as


         3       Mr Agius has said.


         4       A.   It may, Commissioner, but I didn't go through that


         5       process.


         6


         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Again my purpose is not to be critical of


         8       you personally, but you did not understand that you were


         9       required to go through that process for the purpose of the


        10       review; would you agree with that?


        11       A.   Yes.


        12


        13       Q.   And so, if you were to conduct the same review


        14       tomorrow, you would conduct it in the same way?


        15       A.   I don't think I can answer the question.  I would be


        16       speculating.  There is a great deal of information now


        17       available to me which wasn't then.


        18


        19       Q.   But what I am trying to do is to isolate the


        20       parameters of your review.  You conducted your review, we


        21       assume, competently and efficiently within parameters that


        22       you had?


        23       A.   Yes.


        24


        25       Q.   If those same parameters applied to you tomorrow, you


        26       would conduct the review in the same way?


        27       A.   I would imagine so, yes.


        28


        29       Q.   That has some consequences for people who might have


        30       an expectation that the reviews being conducted by the WEA


        31       ought to disclose things like kickbacks or side payments -


        32       do you follow that?


        33       A.   I do, yes.


        34


        35       Q.   But, to your understanding, it was not part of your


        36       function to focus on such matters, even though they had


        37       been raised in the press and even though they had been the


        38       subject of discussions with Mr Sheridan of the AWBI?


        39       A.   That's correct.


        40


        41       Q.   And even though the board had, when it had dealt with


        42       this matter, used the broad terms that I indicated to you


        43       earlier.


        44       A.   That's correct, yes.


        45


        46       Q.   Those broad terms - I will just remind you of them, if


        47       I can find them:
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         1


         2            The Secretariat requested copies of


         3            contracts with Iraq, variations to


         4            contracts, letters of credit and any other


         5            documents that AWBI considered relevant...


         6


         7       I withdraw that.  That's not the document that I had in


         8       mind.  I was thinking of the February board minute:


         9


        10            An analysis of AWBI policies and procedures


        11            in regard to its relationship and conduct


        12            of the Iraq market.


        13


        14       Let me start again.  We began by looking at where this


        15       review had had its source, and we saw that there was a


        16       board minute that spoke of an expansion of the task to be


        17       undertaken for the 2003-2004 year, which was to include an


        18       analysis of AWBI policies and procedures in regard to its


        19       relationship and conduct in the Iraq market.  So that's


        20       where we began?


        21       A.   Correct.


        22


        23       Q.   And we have ended with an investigation which, when


        24       boiled down, really was no more than an examination of the


        25       contracts to ensure, in effect, that the grossed-up price


        26       was greater than the FOB value?


        27       A.   That's correct, yes.


        28


        29       Q.   That's an enormous narrowing, if one could conceive of


        30       such a concept:  it is quite a significant narrowing of the


        31       board's minute, is it not?


        32       A.   In my view, no, because my understanding of my role


        33       was not to look for evidence of kickbacks.  We were aware


        34       at the time that the Volcker Inquiry had started.  My role


        35       was to focus on the management and the operation of the


        36       national pool.


        37


        38       Q.   Well, your role was a little narrower than that,


        39       wasn't it, because if it was to focus on the management and


        40       operation of the national pool, you would have been


        41       interested to know whether or not the national pool was


        42       making side payments to the Iraqis?


        43       A.   But if there were side payments being made to the


        44       Iraqis, that would more likely have come through in the


        45       examination of the pool costs, rather than the examination


        46       of the contracts.  There were a number of concurrent


        47       analyses that the WEA performed against the framework,
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         1       against the performance monitoring framework, one of which


         2       was looking at the costs of the pool, and others were


         3       relating to other issues.


         4


         5       Q.   So these were costs to the pool, being costs disclosed


         6       in the pool's accounts?


         7       A.   Correct.


         8


         9       Q.   And was that examination undertaken?


        10       A.   We did an extensive examination of the costs of


        11       managing the national pool, yes.


        12


        13       Q.   Did you discover in the course of that extensive


        14       examination that the pool had made payments by way of


        15       commissions to ship owners for acting as a conduit for the


        16       payment of the trucking fee?


        17       A.   No.


        18


        19       Q.   Would you have expected the investigation of the AWBI


        20       accounts to have disclosed that?


        21       A.   Yes.


        22


        23       Q.   Can you explain why it wasn't disclosed in the


        24       examination that was undertaken?


        25       A.   No.


        26


        27       Q.   Do you know whether that examination was a complete


        28       examination or whether it was done on a sample basis?


        29       A.   My recollection is that was a complete examination.


        30       We spent approximately four days in AWB's office.


        31


        32       Q.   When was that?


        33       A.   I think that was during a similar time frame.


        34


        35       Q.   Were there any records of that examination - was there


        36       a formal audit report prepared?


        37       A.   There was a report prepared, from memory, yes.


        38


        39       Q.   Do you know who were the authors of that report?


        40       A.   There was a report provided to us by Walter Turnbull,


        41       the consultants we used to assist us, and there would have


        42       been additional information that we ourselves provided and


        43       included in the confidential report to the minister.


        44


        45       Q.   Were there any staff of WEA assigned to that audit?


        46       A.   Myself, Chris DeMestre - I think that was the two of


        47       us.
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         1


         2       Q.   Were there any staff from AWBI assisting in that audit


         3       process?


         4       A.   There was a number of staff from AWBI who assisted


         5       throughout that four days, including people from their


         6       treasury and finance business units, and Steve Sheridan and


         7       Dougal Heath assisted.


         8


         9       Q.   And the object of that investigation was what?


        10       A.   Was to determine the actual costs of managing the


        11       pool, both from an historic and current perspective.  That


        12       was an ongoing assessment over a number of years.


        13


        14       Q.   Was that an examination that related to Iraq --


        15       A.   No.


        16


        17       Q.   -- or was it a broader one than that?


        18       A.   That was a broader one than that that the WEA had been


        19       looking at from the start - what is the cost of managing


        20       the national pool.


        21


        22       Q.   So it would not have descended to line items in


        23       relation to particular payments that were made on


        24       particular occasions for particular shipments?


        25       A.   No.


        26


        27       Q.   It was a look at a high level at the costs of running


        28       the pool?


        29       A.   That's correct, yes.


        30


        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   On a dollar per tonne basis?


        32       A.   It was more, Commissioner, about all of the costs that


        33       came from the pool, that the national pool paid for, such


        34       as research and development, payments to AWB Limited for


        35       services performed, any payments to other suppliers,


        36       transport and freight and storage costs within Australia -


        37       all of those sorts of things.


        38


        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did it include payments to agents by way


        40       of facilitation - that is, facilitation payments paid to


        41       agents?


        42       A.   I can't recall.


        43


        44       Q.   Do you know whether or not that investigation involved


        45       any examination at all of payment for inland transport


        46       within Iraq?


        47       A.   It didn't, no.
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         1


         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Was the purpose of that inquiry to


         3       ensure, as best one could, that the arrangements between


         4       AWBI on the one hand and AWB on the other were equitable?


         5       A.   Not specifically, Commissioner.  It was more to look


         6       at what were the total costs of managing the pool on a


         7       year-by-year basis, and what were the factors affecting


         8       those costs.  The relationship between AWBI and AWB Limited


         9       would have formed a subset of that overall cost


        10       examination.


        11


        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   May we take it that trucking fees for


        13       transportation in Iraq were not disclosed in the figures


        14       you saw?


        15       A.   I have no recollection of them, that's right.


        16


        17       Q.   At paragraph 20 of your statement you say that you


        18       asked Steve Sheridan what the CPA request for a deduction


        19       of 10 per cent aftersales service fee was about, and that


        20       he went away and came back and said to you what is set out


        21       in that paragraph.  Did you make a note of that at the


        22       time?


        23       A.   Yes, I must have, because that's what I would have


        24       used for my file note.


        25


        26       Q.   Can I take you back to your note - WEA.0002.0195, at


        27       paragraph 12.  You refer to the two letters and there is a


        28       first dot point which records:


        29


        30            this was the documentation that some media


        31            reports claimed was proof of 10 percent


        32            "kickbacks" to the Iraqi regime...


        33


        34       Where did you get that information from?


        35       A.   That was my understanding at the time, and I believe


        36       it was a discussion we had in the meeting.


        37


        38       Q.   That is with the AWBI personnel?


        39       A.   Correct.


        40


        41       Q.   Is that what you were told by them as well?


        42       A.   It may well have been an assumption by me at the time.


        43


        44       Q.   The second dot point, I take it, is a summary of what


        45       was not in the letters?


        46       A.   Correct, yes.


        47
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         1       Q.   And paragraph 13 and the two dot points that we see


         2       there is the substance of the conversation that you had


         3       with Mr Sheridan?


         4       A.   That's correct, yes.


         5


         6       Q.   We have from AWB an email train.  Can we bring up


         7       exhibit 329 - WST.0004.0057.  You will see Mr Sheridan's


         8       email to Mr Hargreaves, copied to others within AWB.  He


         9       quotes an apparent request for confirmation in writing.


        10       We've not been able to locate a reference to that request


        11       in the documents provided to the inquiry by the WEA or by


        12       the AWB, other than in this email.  Do you recollect making


        13       such a request?


        14       A.   I don't specifically, but it would have been my


        15       practice to follow up, either by phone or email, and in


        16       this case I would assume it was a phone call, for a written


        17       confirmation of the statement that was made verbally at the


        18       meeting.


        19


        20       Q.   I must say, it appears as not to reflect a telephone


        21       conversation but, rather, it appears to be a quote from


        22       some written request, given the form in which it has been


        23       reproduced in this email.  Have you made a search to see


        24       whether there was ever provided a written response?


        25       A.   I don't recall one.  I believe a search has been made


        26       and has not uncovered a written response.  But, if I may,


        27       I don't think I would have used the words "WEA's audit


        28       loop".


        29


        30       Q.   So you think that those lines that we see in this


        31       email were not a reproduction, or at least an accurate


        32       reproduction, of any written request that you had made?


        33       A.   That's correct, yes.


        34


        35       MR AGIUS:   Thank you, that's the examination of


        36       Mr Charman.


        37


        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robinson?


        39


        40       MR ROBINSON:   No.


        41


        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?


        43


        44       MR JUDD:   I have just a couple of questions, briefer than


        45       last time.


        46


        47





            .3/3/06 (39)               3909     T H CHARMAN (Mr Agius)


                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters


�















         1       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:


         2


         3       MR JUDD:   Q.   Mr Charman, you gave some evidence in


         4       connection with the task you were undertaking concerning


         5       the examination of the contracts to this effect, that it


         6       was to compare the data available with the contract


         7       information - and I am summarising; do you recall?


         8       A.   Correct.


         9


        10       Q.   Can I just confirm this with you, that the data


        11       available to the WEA included FOB price?


        12       A.   Yes.


        13


        14       Q.   It included information provided by AWBI concerning


        15       certain margins which were added in relation to Iraq, for


        16       example, the war risk and demurrage risk and the like - do


        17       you recall receiving such information?


        18       A.   There were different documents that had various pieces


        19       of information, including such information.


        20


        21       Q.   Yes.  You recall a document that contained information


        22       of that kind - do I understand you?


        23       A.   Yes.


        24


        25       Q.   And you had the sea freight and insurance data?


        26       A.   We certainly had some, but I'm not - I wouldn't say we


        27       had all of the complete details of sea freight, no.


        28


        29       Q.   You certainly had an opportunity to ask for that data


        30       if you didn't have it, didn't you?


        31       A.   Mmm.


        32


        33       Q.   And indeed you had powers under the Act to compel


        34       production of data, if you wanted to exercise those powers?


        35       A.   Correct, yes.


        36


        37       Q.   I wanted to ask you about the role of Allen Consulting


        38       Group.  What role did it play, if any, in connection with


        39       the document review process you have described - the one


        40       undertaken at the premises of AWB?


        41       A.   Looking at the contracts?


        42


        43       Q.   Yes, I am referring to the review of the contracts at


        44       AWB?


        45       A.   No.


        46


        47       Q.   Did Allen Consulting have any role in that process?
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         1       A.   No.


         2


         3       Q.   Did you have any role in the preparation of the report


         4       to government, and I am thinking particularly of the 2004


         5       report, WEA.0007.0075.  Are you familiar with that report?


         6       A.   If that's the confidential report to the minister,


         7       yes.


         8


         9       Q.   Yes, the 2004 report?


        10       A.   Yes.


        11


        12       Q.   You accept that you would have had a role in the


        13       preparation of that report?


        14       A.   I had primary responsibility for the drafting of the


        15       report.


        16


        17       Q.   Finally, can I just ask you about your notes.  You


        18       said that you had destroyed your notebooks?


        19       A.   That's correct, yes.


        20


        21       Q.   Can you describe the notebooks?


        22       A.   They would be just standard A4 scribble pads,


        23       basically.


        24


        25       Q.   And these were notebooks in which you kept a record of


        26       the conversations, meetings, telephone calls, in connection


        27       with your work?


        28       A.   From time to time, yes, but I didn't religiously


        29       record everything.


        30


        31       Q.   Nonetheless, these were books in which you kept


        32       business records relating to the tasks you undertook in


        33       performing your functions?


        34       A.   They were generally notes that I took that would then


        35       lead to either input to other documents or prompters for


        36       file notes.


        37


        38       Q.   You may have said when these were destroyed.  Can you


        39       say so again?  Do you recall when they were destroyed?


        40       A.   They would have been - if I had any remaining


        41       documents that I had left over, they would have been


        42       destroyed when I retired from the Wheat Export Authority,


        43       which was September 2004.


        44


        45       Q.   Did you not regard these notebooks as forming part of


        46       the records of the Wheat Export Authority?


        47       A.   No, I considered them to be just personal jottings
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         1       that I used to assist me in preparing other documents.


         2


         3       Q.   Was the authority made aware of the fact that you had


         4       destroyed these notebooks?


         5       A.   Not to my knowledge, no.


         6


         7       MR JUDD:   I have nothing further, sir.


         8


         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there anything arising, Mr Agius?


        10


        11       MR AGIUS:   Yes.


        12


        13       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


        14


        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I just want to take up one thing that my


        16       learned friend raised with you.  You had some information


        17       about demurrage costs?


        18       A.   We had various pieces of information from different


        19       documents for different purposes at different times.  I do


        20       recall a document which gave a breakdown of the after-FOB


        21       price elements of some of the sales to Iraq.  I don't


        22       recall the specific details, but they would have documented


        23       things such as chartering costs, insurance costs - so any


        24       of those costs that were on top of the FOB to achieve the


        25       final price.


        26


        27       Q.   Were you given the breakdown which included the


        28       trucking cost?


        29       A.   I don't recall.


        30


        31       Q.   So you recall being given other elements of this


        32       breakdown, but not the trucking cost?


        33       A.   I don't recall specifically all of the individual


        34       items.  I don't recall specifically any costs of trucking.


        35       Are we talking here about trucking within Iraq?


        36


        37       Q.   Yes.


        38       A.   I don't recall any prices or numbers for trucking


        39       within Iraq.


        40


        41       Q.   Do you recall ever being given sufficient information


        42       to enable you to determine what might have been a trucking


        43       cost in Iraq?


        44       A.   Not that I recall, no.


        45


        46       Q.   When you say you recall certain documents, I wonder if


        47       we could bring up the first quarter 2003 AWBI Limited
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         1       market brief, which we have as exhibit 346 - AWB.0267.0262,


         2       at 0264.  Is that information that you were given that you


         3       see at the bottom of that page?


         4       A.   No.  It looks to me like this is information that was


         5       provided for the export consent market brief process.


         6


         7       Q.   But provided to the WEA?


         8       A.   Provided to the WEA, and I may have seen this at the


         9       time.  I don't recall it specifically, but it was - it


        10       doesn't look like a document that was provided to me in the


        11       course of my performance monitoring activities.


        12


        13       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That completes the examination of


        14       this witness, Mr Commissioner.


        15


        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Charman; you may step


        17       down.


        18


        19       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW


        20


        21       MR AGIUS:   I call Mr Besley.


        22


        23       <MAURICE ALEXANDER BESLEY, affirmed:              [3.10pm]


        24


        25       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


        26


        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Besley, might we have your full name,


        28       please?


        29       A.   Maurice Alexander Besley, commonly known as


        30       Tim Besley.


        31


        32       Q.   You appear today in answer to a notice requiring your


        33       attendance; is that right?


        34       A.   Yes, I am.


        35


        36       Q.   We do have a statement from you, Mr Besley.  Could we


        37       bring up, please, WST.0018.0021.  That's the first page of


        38       your statement?


        39       A.   That's correct, yes.


        40


        41       Q.   Could we go to the last page, page 0025.  Is that the


        42       last page of your statement?


        43       A.   That's correct, yes.


        44


        45       Q.   Are the contents of that statement true and correct to


        46       the best of your knowledge and belief?


        47       A.   Yes, they are.
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         1


         2       EXHIBIT #496 STATEMENT OF MAURICE ALEXANDER BESLEY AND


         3       ANNEXURE, BARCODED WST.0018.0021-0028


         4


         5       MR AGIUS:   I include with that statement the annexure.  So


         6       the exhibit will run from WST.0018.0021 through to 0028.


         7       Thank you.


         8


         9       Q.   Mr Besley, can I ask you a general question to


        10       commence with:  do you have any concerns as to the


        11       perception that the community may have as to the role of


        12       the WEA in the process of overseeing the operations of AWB


        13       when compared to the way in which you see the role of the


        14       WEA?


        15       A.   I do.  I think the community at large probably has a


        16       view that we have a bigger role than in fact I believe we


        17       have.


        18


        19       Q.   Can you assist us with your view of the role of the


        20       WEA, in particular with reference to overseeing - I am


        21       trying to use that in a neutral way - AWBI's relationship


        22       with Iraq?


        23       A.   Well, I think I should start with what I believe the


        24       role is in general, which is to monitor the performance of


        25       AWBI as it manages the desk, the single desk, for the


        26       benefit of growers.  That means we need to know what the


        27       FOB prices paid for wheat out of the pool are.  It means we


        28       also need to look at, as we do, the freight charges,  and


        29       so on, within Australia, the supply chain costs.  We need


        30       to understand and examine the impact of the agreement


        31       between L and I - AWBL and AWBI - which is the provision of


        32       services from L to I and the cost of those and the impact


        33       of that on the pool.  So, so far as Iraq is concerned, what


        34       we needed to know - and that's what we set out to find


        35       out - was if there was any substance to the allegations


        36       which we picked up from reports in the press, were the


        37       allegations of kickbacks likely to affect the pool?  In


        38       other words, was there any impact back on the pool to the


        39       disadvantage of the growers?


        40


        41            The first thing we needed to know, which Mr Charman


        42       went down to check, was were the FOB prices revealed as


        43       part of his process of looking at contracts the same as the


        44       data which we had been provided with previously in the


        45       spreadsheet from AWB, and the answer was yes, they were.


        46


        47            So we could determine no impact on what may or may not
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         1       have happened in Iraq, between Australia and Iraq, or


         2       between the Iraqi ports and upcountry, that could have or


         3       would have affected the price of wheat and the return to


         4       growers from the pool.


         5


         6       Q.   Can I take that up with you.  If we follow the example


         7       that I gave to Mr Charman, let's assume that the free in


         8       truck price was $200 a tonne and the disclosed FOB price


         9       was $150 a tonne, how would you get any comfort that there


        10       had been no kickbacks or side payments if all you knew was


        11       the disclosed FOB price, the target FOB price, and the


        12       grossed-up free in truck price?


        13       A.   Well, we wouldn't know from that.  What we had to find


        14       out was were the FOB prices, which emerged from the


        15       examination of the contracts which Mr Charman did, the same


        16       as those prices that we had been given previously by AWBI,


        17       and they were.


        18


        19       Q.   It doesn't seem as though Mr Charman dug down to the


        20       FOB price, because the contracts themselves never disclosed


        21       an FOB price.  They disclosed no more than, with the


        22       exception of four contracts that I have indicated, a


        23       grossed-up free in truck price, which included, naturally,


        24       an FOB price and every other add-on that one could find.


        25       So, given that, and given that there wasn't any information


        26       provided during the course of his examination of those 17


        27       contracts, of the break-up of that portion of the contract


        28       price which was above the FOB price, how can you have any


        29       comfort?


        30       A.   My understanding was and is that there was sufficient


        31       information to confirm that the FOB prices provided to us


        32       earlier were in fact the FOB prices that came - emerged


        33       from that examination.


        34


        35       Q.   But it doesn't seem as though, even if we look at the


        36       best evidence that we seem to have of what happened during


        37       the course of that meeting, Mr Charman was ever given


        38       sufficient information to actually find out what the FOB


        39       price was by looking at the contracts, and, indeed, his


        40       evidence is, it would seem without any doubt, that he


        41       didn't have that information.


        42       A.   Well, I have to say that that surprises me a little,


        43       hearing that.


        44


        45       Q.   Well, did you see the August note?


        46       A.   His note to file?


        47
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         1       Q.   Yes.


         2       A.   Yes, I did.


         3


         4       Q.   And you have seen it before today, haven't you?


         5       A.   Yes, but not long before today.  It was the basis of a


         6       section of a confidential report to the minister, and


         7       although I would have seen, and did see, that confidential


         8       report in draft form some time ago, I didn't see the


         9       primary document, which led to that section of the report,


        10       until fairly recently when we were combing through the


        11       documents that we sent to the Commission.


        12


        13       Q.   Can I bring it up now?  It is exhibit 468 -


        14       WEA.0002.0193, at 0194.  The portion I was taking you


        15       through commences above paragraph 10 "Iraq sales


        16       contracts".  If you would be more comfortable reading the


        17       whole of the document, we can let you do that.


        18       A.   No, that's fine, thank you.  You see, 11 says that WEA


        19       read each document in the folder to verify the details were


        20       consistent with the information and data previously


        21       obtained by the WEA.  To me, that says that the FOB prices


        22       previously given checked out and were verified.


        23


        24       Q.   Mr Charman says, and he was there, that his manner of


        25       verification was no more than - and I don't say this to be


        26       critical of him - to satisfy himself that, on the


        27       assumption which he took from me that the contracts


        28       disclosed no more than the grossed-up free in truck price,


        29       he was satisfied that that was of a sufficiently large


        30       figure so as to support the FOB price that you had


        31       previously been given.  There is no evidence from him that


        32       there was ever any analysis of the component of the


        33       contract price which was the difference between the FOB


        34       price and the grossed-up free in truck price.


        35       A.   I hear what you say, but, as I said, paragraph 11


        36       means to me what I said it means, and it was on the basis


        37       of that that the information was put into the confidential


        38       report to the minister.


        39


        40       Q.   Well, paragraph 11 really doesn't say any more than


        41       that there was a verification that the details were


        42       consistent with information and data previously obtained.


        43       Now, Mr Charman's approach, as he testified to today, would


        44       be consistent with the previous FOB figure that had been


        45       disclosed, would it not?


        46       A.   Yes, it would.


        47
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         1       Q.   Without necessarily verifying it as being an accurate


         2       and fixed FOB figure?


         3       A.   Well, that's an interpretation that seems to me now to


         4       be valid, but equally I think what I said before is the


         5       interpretation I placed on it at the time, and it was used


         6       to formulate the report which went to the minister.


         7       Because the whole of our operations, in terms of our role


         8       to monitor on behalf of the growers the operation and


         9       management of the pool by AWBI, is based on FOB prices.


        10


        11       Q.   Now, if I accept your approach to, let us say, how you


        12       expected the investigation to have been done when the


        13       contracts were examined, does that mean that you assumed or


        14       expected that, in addition to the grossed-up free in truck


        15       price, there would have been an examination of every


        16       component within that price?


        17       A.   Not every.  If you are asking me, though, I would


        18       think that to get back from free in truck to FOB you would


        19       simply take off the freight between Australia and any


        20       insurance costs to get it there.  Free in truck doesn't


        21       mean - that was another cost to get it up country after


        22       that, so I would have thought that the way that check would


        23       have been done would be to work back from that free in


        24       truck price by deducting the freight/insurance costs


        25       between Australia and those trucks.


        26


        27       Q.   Well, let's assume that you deducted the cost of sea


        28       freight and you deducted the cost of insurance, and you


        29       still came up with a figure which was in excess of the FOB


        30       price.  Is that where you would draw the line at the


        31       investigation?


        32       A.   That would have led to further questions being asked.


        33       I mean, my understanding was we had confirmed what we had


        34       been given, and there the matter rested.  Because our role


        35       was to see whether, if these allegations were correct,


        36       there could have been an impact on the pool, and we needed


        37       to understand that.


        38


        39       Q.   But I am just trying to fix where you see the


        40       investigation as going.  If we start with the free in truck


        41       price, and you deduct sea freight and you deduct insurance,


        42       you would, given that there was some inland transport


        43       component, of necessity end up with a figure which was in


        44       excess of the FOB price?


        45       A.   Inland transport in Iraq?


        46


        47       Q.   Yes.
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         1       A.   Yes, you would.  Well, you may.  You may.  If you took


         2       the free in truck price, which did not include the cost of


         3       transportation in Iraq, and deducted from that the cost of


         4       getting it there, ie, the sea freight and the insurance,


         5       that should get you back to an FOB price from Australia.


         6


         7       Q.   We're told that the free in truck price of necessity


         8       includes a component for inland transportation, because it


         9       was free in truck to all governorates in Iraq?


        10       A.   Mmm-hmm.


        11


        12       Q.   So that, to take my example of $200 a tonne, that


        13       $200 a tonne price disclosed on the contract included a


        14       component for inland trucking in Iraq as well as every


        15       other component, as well as an FOB price.


        16       A.   Well, I had not understood free in truck to mean that.


        17


        18       Q.   If it is understood in that way, then looking at the


        19       analysis as you understood it to have been undertaken, and


        20       as you would, I imagine, have wished it to be undertaken,


        21       you would have expected a deduction from the grossed-up


        22       free in truck price of the overseas freight component and


        23       the insurance component.  Would you accept now that, of


        24       necessity, you would end up with a figure which was in


        25       excess of the FOB price?


        26       A.   Well, it depends what else you are subtracting from


        27       it.  I mean, if you were - what you are telling me,


        28       I think, is that the free in truck means free in truck to


        29       anywhere in Iraq.


        30


        31       Q.   Yes.


        32       A.   So that there is a freight component to get it


        33       anywhere in Iraq.  If that be the case, and that was


        34       deducted, then, yes, there could be a situation in which


        35       the figure would be higher, but my understanding of what we


        36       did was to check out, and it was consistent with what we


        37       had been given before.


        38


        39       Q.   I am merely trying to understand what your


        40       understanding was of precisely how far this examination


        41       went.  Did you expect that Mr Charman would have not just


        42       looked at the grossed-up free in truck price, but also


        43       looked at all of the components of that price?


        44       A.   If they had been available, yes.


        45


        46       Q.   And if they were not, if that information was not


        47       provided during the course of this meeting?
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         1       A.   Starting from free in truck, he would have needed to


         2       have that information to get back to the key issue for us,


         3       which is FOB.


         4


         5       Q.   Yes.  That's your point, isn't it?


         6       A.   Yes.


         7


         8       Q.   Without that information, it was a verification


         9       without verification?


        10       A.   Yes, you could say that, but, I mean, he would have


        11       needed to have more details than you are suggesting that


        12       maybe he did have to get back to FOB.


        13


        14       Q.   Well, my suggestion comes from his evidence and from


        15       the documentary evidence such as we have it.


        16       A.   I deliberately didn't hear his evidence.


        17


        18       Q.   I'm sorry?


        19       A.   I deliberately didn't sit in and hear his evidence.


        20


        21       Q.   Oh, I see.  I wasn't aware of that.  Let me give you a


        22       practical example of the matter.  If we go to exhibit 340,


        23       AWB.0147.0092 - I am not suggesting that this email was


        24       sent to you or that you have any knowledge of it, but it


        25       gives you an example - if we go to the bottom, you will see


        26       that people within AWB were being given a breakdown of the


        27       contract A1670.  I don't want to put on to the record these


        28       exact figures, for reasons of a confidential nature.  You


        29       will see the FOB price, which is at the bottom in bold, and


        30       then all of the components that AWB and AWBI were aware of


        31       were included in the grossed-up price which you see as


        32       total free in truck.


        33       A.   I do, yes.


        34


        35       Q.   Can you see that the components included there were


        36       inland transport and an amount for the Tigris debt.  Would


        37       you agree with me that if you didn't have the inland


        38       transport or the Tigris debt you wouldn't be able to


        39       determine whether or not the net FOB to the AWBI was the


        40       best return that was achievable to growers, would you?


        41       A.   No, you wouldn't.  You wouldn't.  That's not - this is


        42       not the kind of detailed information that I understand the


        43       WEA has ever been provided with, in that detail.


        44


        45       Q.   But would you concede now that without that


        46       information, that kind of detail that we see at 0092, the


        47       WEA is simply not in a position to be able to verify that
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         1       the net FOB to pool is the best that could be achievable?


         2       A.   I agree with that if you are starting from the top


         3       number, which is total free in truck.


         4


         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The determination of the FOB price


         6       must be a net back calculation from the contract price?


         7       A.   Yes, it must be, Commissioner, yes.  But normally the


         8       information we get on a spreadsheet from AWB, in order to


         9       perform the functions which the WEA is charged to perform,


        10       is a spreadsheet which gives us FOB prices, so that any


        11       non-FOB prices - and they mostly are, although there has


        12       been a bit of a trend lately to go to C&F and CIF


        13       contracts - are FOB, but where they aren't FOB they are


        14       corrected back by AWBI before the spreadsheet comes to us,


        15       and that's what we rely on.


        16


        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Well, have you been able to identify any


        18       spreadsheet or any information provided by AWBI to the WEA


        19       which gives the breakdown in the detail that we see it in


        20       this email?


        21       A.   Not - no, I certainly have no knowledge of such a


        22       document.


        23


        24       Q.   And would you accept from me that there is no evidence


        25       of any such document amongst the material that has been


        26       produced by the WEA to this inquiry?


        27       A.   That - yes, I would agree with that.


        28


        29       Q.   And, if it existed, it would be there, would it not?


        30       A.   It would.


        31


        32       Q.   There was a joint board meeting on 27 July 2004, and


        33       we have the minutes of that as confidential exhibit 156.


        34       Could we bring up, please, WEA.0002.0033.  Were joint board


        35       meetings of this nature a regular occurrence?


        36       A.   I would prefer to call them board-to-board meetings.


        37       "Joint" to me implies getting together and acting as one.


        38       We didn't do that.


        39


        40       Q.   I apologise.  They are in fact referred to as


        41       board-to-board meetings in the records.


        42       A.   Yes, it has become a shorthand term, "joint board".


        43       But they were for the purpose of exchanging information for


        44       the mutual benefit of the industry, recognising that each


        45       of us had our own particular duties to discharge and also


        46       agreeing that there would be differences of view from time


        47       to time, but also for the purpose of sorting out any issues
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         1       that needed to be sorted out in terms of what was then


         2       known as the consult committee in which there were members


         3       of AWBI, WEA, the grains council and the department.


         4       Sometimes it was not possible within that committee to


         5       reach an agreement on issues that needed to be discussed


         6       and sorted out, and that would then come to such a meeting


         7       of the two boards getting together to sort it out and


         8       resolve what needed to be done.


         9


        10       Q.   Well, we have this meeting of 27 July 2004.  I want to


        11       take you to the next page, 0034, at paragraph 6:


        12


        13            The WEA and AWB(I) discussed the current


        14            status of the WEA's request for copies of


        15            Iraq contracts.


        16


        17       Then we see the result of that discussion is recorded as a


        18       dot point:


        19


        20            the WEA agreed to visit AWBI offices to


        21            view the contracts, rather than obtain


        22            copies.


        23


        24       Can you shed any light on the background to that agreement?


        25       A.   Yes, I can.  This issue of kickbacks had surfaced long


        26       before then.  Originally I think the American wheat


        27       producers were pushing the idea.  This tended to be


        28       dismissed by some of the people in this country as just a


        29       stunt.  The Canadians had a bit of a go at it and then


        30       there was the report from the US defence organisation,


        31       which led to press comments prior to this, which made us


        32       come to the view - that's the WEA - that we ought to find


        33       out about this for the purposes that I described before,


        34       ie, were there kickbacks; if there were kickbacks, were


        35       they impacting on the pool and therefore disadvantaging the


        36       growers.  So we were not able, at management level, to come


        37       to an agreed position on how we would get that information


        38       and it was therefore one of the issues that I described


        39       before, that came to a board-to-board meeting where it was


        40       resolved on a sensible future course of action.  That's how


        41       that arose, that we agreed at that meeting, "Okay, we will


        42       go down, send somebody down to have a look at the


        43       contracts."


        44


        45       Q.   Rather than obtaining copies?


        46       A.   Yes, that's as it was.  I think you need also -


        47       perhaps, if I'm allowed to say this, there was a time when
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         1       the relationship between the two bodies was somewhat


         2       strained.  There was at that time a review going on, or


         3       there was work being done about how the industry was


         4       operating, and there was a comment and a view and an


         5       expression that we ought to have a more mature


         6       relationship.  We had I think by then established a much


         7       more - a closer relationship, a relationship of trust, and


         8       this led to us accepting that as a reasonable means of


         9       getting the information we felt we needed to have to


        10       perform our duty.


        11


        12       Q.   Did you see it as a more advantageous position than


        13       simply being given the contracts, or did you see it as a


        14       less advantageous position?


        15       A.   At the time, I didn't see it as a more advantageous


        16       position, but I didn't see it as anything less.  With the


        17       benefit of hindsight, it probably was less advantageous.


        18


        19       Q.   We have a file note from Mr Fuller, who is recorded as


        20       having attended this meeting as part of the executive of


        21       AWBI, and we won't get his evidence in relation to it until


        22       next week now, but perhaps we could bring it up.  It is


        23       WST.0017.0348.  When I say it is a file note, it is a


        24       handwritten note of his.  We may need to go to page 0346,


        25       which is where the document commences.  It is the top four


        26       lines that I am interested in, if we can in any way improve


        27       the condition of those.


        28       A.   I can read that, "AWB(I) Board and WEA board meeting


        29       27 July 2004".


        30


        31       Q.   Yes.  We need to go to page 0348.  So it is


        32       paragraph 3, "Iraq Contracts".  "Tim B", who we take to be


        33       a reference to you?


        34       A.   That seems a reasonable assumption.


        35


        36       Q.   His note is "Responsibility to understand", and then


        37       "BST", which we take to be a reference to Mr Stewart, "WEA


        38       can come" something "and view process"?


        39       A.   I think that says "come in and view process".


        40


        41       Q.   And then Mr Fuller's note is "Agreed".  Can you, by


        42       reference to that note or the minute itself, tell us


        43       anything of the conversation that took place on this topic?


        44       A.   I would imagine that I would have been saying --


        45


        46       MR JUDD:   Don't imagine, sir.  If he has a recollection,


        47       even a reconstruction, it would be preferred.
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         1


         2       THE WITNESS:   I believe - am I allowed to believe?


         3


         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can believe, yes.


         5


         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I hope so.  I don't think the world has


         7       come to that.


         8       A.   I do believe that, in an endeavour to resolve what had


         9       become a bit of a sticking point - and it had - this was


        10       proposed by Brendon Stewart.  I am sure that the comment


        11       attributed to me, which is shorthand by the writer of this


        12       note, indicated that I would have said we needed - we had a


        13       responsibility to understand this in order properly to


        14       perform our duty under the Act which governs our


        15       operations.


        16


        17       Q.   When you say "responsibility to understand this", was


        18       this against the background of a discussion concerning the


        19       allegations of kickbacks?


        20       A.   Yes, it was.


        21


        22       Q.   Because we don't see a reference to that in the board


        23       minute note, and we don't see a reference to that in


        24       Mr Fuller's note.  I'm not saying that means it wasn't


        25       said - often matters of background which are so fundamental


        26       aren't written down - but what is your evidence about it?


        27       A.   Well, my recollection is that there was clearly a


        28       discussion on these allegations, and that I would have been


        29       saying, and did say, "We need to understand this, otherwise


        30       we can't perform our job.  We need to, therefore, have an


        31       opportunity to look at some documentation", and that led to


        32       an agreement that we would send somebody down to the AWB


        33       head office to view the contracts.


        34


        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did Mr Stewart or Mr Lindberg, or


        36       anybody else from AWBI, tell you that they were conducting


        37       an internal examination of this issue themselves?


        38       A.   Commissioner, no, they did not.


        39


        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you ever learn that they were?


        41       A.   I think I have a vague recollection of that, but


        42       I don't - I couldn't be precise, and it's certainly, in my


        43       recollection of the scheme of the order of events, not at


        44       this time.


        45


        46       Q.   Were you ever made an offer that you could share in


        47       the proceeds of their investigation, or that the proceeds
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         1       of their investigation would be shared with you?


         2       A.   Not to my knowledge, but management may be able to add


         3       to what I have just said.


         4


         5       Q.   But if it happened, you weren't aware of it?


         6       A.   No, I wasn't.


         7


         8       Q.   So if I am picking up the flavour of this


         9       board-to-board meeting, it was one where you were


        10       indicating that you had a responsibility to understand the


        11       process and to look at this issue or the allegation of


        12       kickbacks, and Mr Stewart was accepting of that and


        13       inviting you in - I don't mean you personally, but inviting


        14       the WEA in - to look at the process and to look at the


        15       documents?


        16       A.   Yes.


        17


        18       Q.   In that spirit, then, would you have understood at the


        19       end of that meeting that if the AWBI had any documents or


        20       information that related to kickbacks it would be provided


        21       to you?


        22       A.   Well, I would have expected that, looking back, but at


        23       the time - and don't forget that Terry's note, Mr Charman's


        24       note to us, records the fact that he asked them point blank


        25       were they engaged in any kickback arrangements and they


        26       denied that.  As well as that, prior to that meeting which


        27       Mr Charman attended - that review of documents which he


        28       undertook - we had obtained from AWBI some of their


        29       corporate governance documentation, including the


        30       documentation about agency payments, and we had been shown


        31       that there were no agency payments, which incidentally,


        32       under their own rules of racing, had to be approved and


        33       then reported if they were ever undertaken.  There were no


        34       agency payments reported for Iraq.  So, armed with those


        35       two bits of information, it seemed to us that we were able


        36       to honestly say that it was a clean skin - there was


        37       nothing there that we didn't know.


        38


        39       Q.   That would depend in part on an assumption by the WEA


        40       that, if payments described by the US informants as


        41       kickbacks were made, they had been recorded as agency


        42       payments and had been dealt with in accordance with the


        43       established policies of the AWB and the AWBI, would it not?


        44       A.   It would, but, as I said, there were no agency


        45       payments recorded for Iraq.


        46


        47       Q.   But if these payments to Iraq were not recorded as
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         1       agency payments, if they were not recorded as facilitation


         2       fees, then obviously looking at their agency payments


         3       schedule wouldn't be of any use on this issue?


         4       A.   That's true.


         5


         6       Q.   That brings me to the first comment you made in


         7       response to that question.  You said Mr Charman's note to


         8       you records the fact that he had asked them point blank


         9       were they engaged in any kickback arrangements and they


        10       denied it.  To what were you referring when you made that


        11       statement?


        12       A.   I thought I was referring to his note to file which


        13       recorded --


        14


        15       Q.   In August 2004?


        16       A.   Yes.


        17


        18       Q.   We might bring it up again.  It is WEA.0002.0193.  Do


        19       you read into this note a statement by AWBI that amounts to


        20       a denial that they were making or had made kickback


        21       payments or had kickback payments in place?


        22       A.   Not so far as I have read down the page.  There is


        23       nothing that suggests that to me.


        24


        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we go to the next page?


        26


        27       THE WITNESS:   I thought it was in section 10.


        28


        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   If it is anywhere, it is between


        30       10 and 13 somewhere.


        31       A.   But if it isn't there - I've seen it in another note.


        32


        33       Q.   We will just go to the next page.


        34       A.   Yes, that's the 10 per cent, which was explained by


        35       AWBI as being a general request by the CPA for people to


        36       reduce their contracts by 10 per cent, and indicating that


        37       it was just that and nothing to do with a perception that


        38       there was a 10 per cent kickback.  But I have seen another


        39       document - and I can't recall what it is now - in which the


        40       words to the effect that they denied any wrongdoing were


        41       written, and that's one of the documents that I had in my


        42       mind about this.


        43


        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You may be referring to a reference in the


        45       performance report.


        46


        47       MR ROBINSON:   I think it is page 74 of the July 2003
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         1       to June 2004 document.


         2


         3       MR AGIUS:   We might bring that up at WEA.0007.0075.


         4


         5       Q.   You may have had in mind the first paragraph.


         6       A.   Yes.  That's it.  That's it.  Now, that document,


         7       that's out of the confidential report to the minister,


         8       I take it?  I think it is, yes.  Now, that document was, as


         9       I think you have probably heard - and I believe I read this


        10       in the transcript - in fact circulated to AWBI in draft


        11       form and agreed to as to substance, perhaps not here and


        12       there presentation, but certainly as to substance, before


        13       it was finalised and sent to the minister.


        14


        15       Q.   And that was the denial you were referring to?


        16       A.   I am sure that's what I had in my mind, yes.


        17


        18       Q.   And did that denial give you satisfaction?


        19       A.   Well, at the time it did.  I mean, I have been in many


        20       tough business situations in my life, and I have developed,


        21       I like to think, a relationship of trust, and I have always


        22       believed in that until I find the trust has been misplaced.


        23       The question I need to ask now, and I said this to this


        24       Senate Estimates committee, is have I been misled, and at


        25       that time I also said maybe that I would prefer to reserve


        26       my judgment until I see what comes out of your inquiry,


        27       sir.


        28


        29       Q.   I understand from your statement - and do not


        30       understand me in any way to be asking you any question


        31       about anything that you said in the Senate Estimates


        32       committee --


        33       A.   Thank you for that, that was not a pleasant


        34       experience.


        35


        36       Q.   It is not something that I want to ask you anything


        37       about.


        38       A.   No.


        39


        40       Q.   I want you to be certain that I am not doing that.


        41       You have maintained in your statement a position which was


        42       that you would prefer to hold judgment?


        43       A.   Yes.


        44


        45       Q.   But you have also said that there is a possibility,


        46       you believe, that you were misled?


        47       A.   Yes.  I now have to say that because of what I have
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         1       seen emerging so far in the transcript, which I have read,


         2       but then that's just the transcript.  The issues that will


         3       come from that transcript and the decisions the Commission


         4       will make haven't been made - identified or made, and one


         5       would need to prudently await that before coming to a final


         6       view on it.


         7


         8       Q.   Well then, finally, do I correctly understand from


         9       your evidence that you did not regard this review that was


        10       being undertaken by the WEA as some narrow review which was


        11       not interested in investigating the issue as to whether or


        12       not the AWBI had engaged in the payment of kickbacks?


        13       A.   I believed it to be a narrow review.


        14


        15       Q.   But one which was concerned with the issue as to


        16       whether or not the AWBI had paid kickbacks?


        17       A.   No, one that was concerned to discover whether, if


        18       kickbacks had been paid, there had been any impact on the


        19       pool to the detriment of the growers, which I believe is


        20       the mandate which we have under the Act of parliament which


        21       governs us.


        22


        23       Q.   Well, it would follow then that, provided there was a


        24       satisfaction that there hadn't been any impact on the pool


        25       or the return to growers, and provided one accepted an


        26       assurance that there had been no kickbacks paid, that could


        27       be an end to the inquiry that the WEA was making?


        28       A.   Yes, that could - I wouldn't have called it an


        29       inquiry; it wasn't as deep as that.  I believe an inquiry


        30       is a much more audit-like process.  Our role is not to


        31       audit, our role is to monitor, and there is a big


        32       difference, I suggest.


        33


        34       Q.   Given what we know of the role as it was carried out,


        35       this particular review was sparked off by allegations which


        36       plainly raised the question as to whether or not payments


        37       were being made to Iraq by the AWBI.


        38       A.   (Witness nods).


        39


        40       Q.   Your evidence is, then, that the review that was


        41       undertaken was a review to determine whether or not, if


        42       those payments were made, they had an adverse impact on the


        43       pool?


        44       A.   That's correct, and that's the answer to paragraph 18


        45       of my statement.


        46


        47       Q.   If that review had discovered the fact of such
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         1       payments, even if the review had concluded there had been


         2       no adverse impact on the pool, do you say that that


         3       information would have been reported?


         4       A.   Yes.  I am not suggesting for a moment that


         5       I personally or the WEA would condone behaviour of the kind


         6       that is alleged, and I am saying also that, despite the


         7       fact that we would have satisfied our duty to the growers,


         8       if it had come to our notice that there was evidence of


         9       anything untoward such as kickbacks, we would have reported


        10       that to the minister; we would, following that, probably


        11       have sought some legal advice as to what obligation we had


        12       to pass that information on to anybody else, like ASIC or


        13       ASX or the police.  I would stand firmly on that position.


        14


        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Besley, you said that the


        16       report to the minister, the annual report, was circulated


        17       in draft form to AWBI.  Was there a board-to-board meeting


        18       to discuss that draft before it was finalised?


        19       A.   I don't believe so, Commissioner.  The normal form, in


        20       my experience, is that these reports are drafted and


        21       management has a go at it, and then, having sorted out any


        22       issues that needed to be sorted out at that level, in terms


        23       of presentation and whatever, it then goes up the chain in


        24       both organisations to the board of the Wheat Export


        25       Authority and the board of AWBI, and if there are no bomb


        26       shells that go off, then the report is signed off and sent


        27       to the minister.


        28


        29       MR AGIUS:   We have as exhibit 469 the dissemination of the


        30       draft report to the AWBI directors on 31 August 2004, which


        31       I should indicate was in the same terms as the report which


        32       went to the minister.  So it clearly wasn't corrected in


        33       any way.  That is the examination of Mr Besley,


        34       Mr Commissioner.


        35


        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Robinson?


        37


        38       MR ROBINSON:   No examination, Commissioner.


        39


        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?


        41


        42       MR JUDD:   Yes.


        43


        44       <EXAMINATION BY MR JUDD:


        45


        46       MR JUDD:   Q.   Mr Besley, I appear on behalf of AWB and


        47       AWBI.  Part of the monitoring responsibility of the Wheat
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         1       Export Authority is to monitor corporate governance of


         2       AWBI; is that correct?


         3       A.   Yes, it is as a sort of a side issue, it is an


         4       atmospheric issue, but the specific role we had was very


         5       limited in the Act.


         6


         7       Q.   You accept that part of the responsibility which has


         8       been assumed, whether a side issue or not, of the WEA is to


         9       monitor corporate governance of AWBI's key performance


        10       indicator?


        11       A.   We have reported on that, yes, and we did indeed, as


        12       I said, seek and obtain information about the agency


        13       payments, and, as I have already said, there was no


        14       evidence in there of any payments to Iraq.


        15


        16       Q.   In the course of undertaking the monitoring activity,


        17       the WEA has regard to the code of ethics and conduct


        18       promulgated by AWBI?


        19       A.   Yes, it does.


        20


        21       Q.   And it must be astute to ensure that there is


        22       compliance with that code and with the law generally?


        23       A.   Well, we are not in a position to ensure that there is


        24       compliance.  That is something we don't have enough


        25       information - if we see something obvious, yes, but there


        26       is a compliance committee, as you are aware, I'm sure, and


        27       we do talk to the compliance committee, and in fact the


        28       compliance committee, following some discussions we have


        29       had in recent years, has given us lots of information which


        30       they themselves obtained to ensure that, internally, the


        31       compliance of AWBI is meeting all the corporate governance


        32       standards that have been set.


        33


        34       Q.   This inquiry or review, or whatever one might call it,


        35       of contracts in August of 2004 was, I suggest, in the


        36       performance of the obligations such as they were understood


        37       by WEA of corporate governance; is that right?


        38       A.   No.  I repeat, if you look at my statement, I have


        39       laid out clearly what I believe was the basis of our


        40       approach to that in paragraph 18 of my statement, which is


        41       were there any payments of this kind being made; if they


        42       were, could they be affecting the pool; and, if that was


        43       happening, could that impact on the growers adversely?


        44       That's what we were seeking to establish.


        45


        46       Q.   And I think you have said on a number of occasions


        47       that would require an understanding of what the FOB price





            .3/3/06 (39)               3929     M A BESLEY (Mr Judd)


                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters


�















         1       was to make that assessment?


         2       A.   Yes, it would, and that's why I said before that it


         3       was my understanding that the examination confirmed the


         4       information we had, which was essentially FOB information.


         5


         6       Q.   Could the witness be shown exhibit 60C, please.


         7       I don't have the AWB number.


         8


         9       MR AGIUS:   AWB.5043.0311.


        10


        11       MR JUDD:   Thank you, Mr Agius.


        12


        13       Q.   What will come on to the screen, we hope, is a short


        14       form of a contract between the AWB and the Grain Board of


        15       Iraq.


        16       A.   I see something about foot and mouth and mad cow


        17       disease at the moment.


        18


        19       MR AGIUS:   That's the Friday afternoon glitch.


        20


        21       MR JUDD:   Perhaps we can provide a hard copy and have it


        22       projected.  Thank you.


        23


        24       Q.   I want you to accept, for present purposes, that this


        25       was one of the contracts reviewed on 11 August.  You will


        26       see there - and it is very difficult to read - under


        27       "Price":


        28


        29            The CIF Free in Truck price per tonne of


        30            1,000 kilos in Euros is as follows:


        31            [Figure withheld]


        32


        33       Perhaps I shouldn't go on any further.  You will see a sum


        34       there written.


        35


        36       MR AGIUS:   Do you want that sum removed from the


        37       transcript?


        38


        39       MR JUDD:   Yes.


        40


        41       THE WITNESS:   It is rather difficult to read, but I can


        42       see the point you are making.


        43


        44       MR JUDD:   Yes.  That was an error on my part.


        45


        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will delete the reference.


        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   Q.   There is a sum there?


         2       A.   I can see four figures but I am not sure what is


         3       between the first two and the last two.


         4


         5       Q.   The question I want to ask you is this:  assume that


         6       that is the only piece of relevant information available to


         7       the person inspecting the contract.  Without more, it would


         8       not be possible, would it, to arrive at a FOB price.  That


         9       follows, doesn't it?


        10       A.   Yes.  I, of course, can't confirm or otherwise whether


        11       this was the only bit of information available.  That's the


        12       first point.  But I agree that, working back from that


        13       price which you mentioned, and we won't quote the number,


        14       you would need to know more of the elements that made up


        15       that price to get back to a FOB price.


        16


        17       Q.   I want you to make the assumption that this is


        18       information that was available.  In that event, without


        19       that additional information being available, the whole


        20       exercise of undertaking the examination would have been an


        21       entirely fruitless one, wouldn't it?


        22       A.   Yes, that's true.  It would depend on what the other


        23       information was.  Was it a dissected set of costs or a


        24       total - a lump sum that came off?  I don't know that


        25


        26       Q.   Assuming you have a lump sum, as in this contract, and


        27       assuming the absence of other information to break it down,


        28       the examination, I am suggesting, would have been an


        29       entirely fruitless one?


        30       A.   Starting with that and nothing else you couldn't get


        31       back to a FOB price, because that's not a FOB price.


        32


        33       MR JUDD:   Thank you.


        34


        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there anything arising?


        36


        37       MR AGIUS:   Just one matter.


        38


        39       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:


        40


        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.  You said in the course of an answer to my


        42       learned friend - I will put two questions to you, because


        43       your answer was broken up:


        44


        45            Q.   And it must be astute to ensure that


        46            there is compliance with that code and


        47            with the law generally?
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         1


         2       Your answer, spread over those two questions, was:


         3


         4            Well, we are not in a position to ensure


         5            that there is compliance.  That is


         6            something we don't have enough


         7            information - if we see something obvious,


         8            yes, but there is a compliance committee,


         9            as you are aware, I'm sure, and we do talk


        10            to the compliance committee, and in fact


        11            the compliance committee, following some


        12            discussions we have had in recent years,


        13            has given us lots of information which they


        14            themselves obtained to ensure that,


        15            internally, the compliance of AWBI is


        16            meeting all the corporate governance


        17            standards that have been set.


        18


        19       Over what period of years were you referring to when you


        20       said "in recent years"?


        21       A.   That was post all these issues.  It is quite recent.


        22


        23       Q.   So post the publication of the Volcker Report?


        24       A.   No, I think --


        25


        26       Q.   Post October 2005?


        27       A.   Certainly post the - I am trying to search my memory.


        28


        29       Q.   The US wheat complaint in 2003?


        30       A.   Yes, 2003, then 2004 there was the US defence one, and


        31       then there was the Volcker Inquiry announced in April '04,


        32       I believe, and it reported in --


        33


        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   October 05.


        35


        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It was reported in October 05.


        37       A.   Yes.  So it was certainly after the first complaints


        38       which were attributed to the American wheat lobby and the


        39       Canadians.  Precisely where I would have to check - I don't


        40       have a diary that does other than tell me what I have to do


        41       at certain times, but I can check when we had our - we had


        42       a meeting in Sydney, another board to board, at which it


        43       was agreed following the issue by the independent panel,


        44       which did an examination of the industry and the AWBI's


        45       performance and the WEA's performance.  It made 18


        46       recommendations which the government accepted in principle


        47       and announced, I believe, in April 05.  So to give effect
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         1       to our respective obligations - that is AWBI's and the


         2       WEA's - under that report, the recommendations of which


         3       were adopted by the government, we met in Sydney to see how


         4       we could mutually carry that forward.  So it would have


         5       been after Warren Truss's announcement in April 05.  So it


         6       is quite recent.


         7


         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any reason why Mr Besley and


         9       the others should not be excused?


        10


        11       MR AGIUS:   No, no reason.


        12


        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Besley, you are excused.


        14


        15       MR AGIUS:   That is the evidence that I have available to


        16       call this afternoon, Commissioner.


        17


        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   I should also indicate that the two


        19       other witnesses from the WEA are also excused.


        20


        21       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW


        22


        23       MR AGIUS:   I neglected to tender, which perhaps I should


        24       as a confidential exhibit, Mr Fuller's note of that


        25       board-to-board meeting, and I would ask that it be marked


        26       as a confidential exhibit, save for that portion that was


        27       read on to the record.


        28


        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Could you give me the reference


        30       again?


        31


        32       MR AGIUS:   Yes, WST.0017.0346 through to 0352.  The


        33       portion I read was on page 0348.


        34


        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be confidential exhibit 164C.


        36


        37       EXHIBIT #164C NOTE OF MR FULLER OF BOARD-TO-BOARD MEETING,


        38       BARCODED WST.0017.0346-0352


        39


        40       MR AGIUS:   Was there some other matter that was going to


        41       be dealt with this afternoon?


        42


        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   No.  We will adjourn until Monday


        44       morning at 10am.


        45


        46       AT 4.08PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED


        47       TO MONDAY, 6 MARCH 2006 AT 10AM
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